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Principal Place of Business in Hong Kong
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
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B %R =
(In HK$'000) (LOBKF T BEN) 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
OPERATING RESULT EEMR
Turnover EEHE 294,955 207,979 77,216 58,175 74,185
Net profit attributable to equity AAAEREAA
holders of the Company JEAL % i A 156,101 213,603 155,296 83,488 38,144
Earnings per share - Basic FREF —EAK HK$7% 7T HK$% 7T HKS$ T HKS$% 7T HK$7 7T
12.2 centsfll 16.9 centsfli 12.5 centsfll 7.3 centsfll 3.4 centsfll
FINANCIAL POSITION BE RSO
Total assets BEME 1,197,437 1,440,077 1,093,931 751,135 486,050
Net assets BEFE 918,223 773,997 565,839 398,933 174,110
Total liabilities BfER 279,214 666,080 528,092 352,202 311,940
SEGMENT INFORMATION PEER
- REVENUE - A
Broking S 44,285 29,348 15,433 16,143 19,362
Financing % 47,300 55,957 53,883 38,027 38,591
Corporate finance PERE 444 5812 2,216 1,295 13,799
Assets management BEER 3,187 2,977 2,565 2,463 2,433
Property investment WMERE 5,128 3,724 3,119 247 =
Precious metal trading E¢BEE 194,611 110,161 - - -
Investment holding KA K - - - - -
- OPERATING PROFIT - EERA
Broking S 23,333 10,278 4,631 4,900 9,688
Financing gy 35,806 41,570 40,054 31,418 34,193
Corporate finance TERE 438 5,738 1,498 463 12,290
Assets management BEER 2,818 2,852 1,774 884 952
Property investment MERE 2,298 949 637 165 =
Precious metal trading E¢BEE (170) 1,512 - - =
Investment holding REER = = (1) - -
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On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Upbest Group
Limited (the “Company”) together with its subsidiaries (collectively
the “Group”), | have pleasure to present to you the annual report and
the audited financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31st
March, 2008.

Results

The Group recorded a net profit for the year attributable to equity
holders of the Company of HK$156,101,000, decrease of 26.92%
compared with 2007 profit of HK$213,603,000. Earnings per share were
HK12.2 cents (2007: HK16.9 cents).

Dividends and distribution
The Board has resolved to recommend the payment of a final dividend
of HK3.0 cents (2007: HK3.2 cents) per ordinary share for the year.

The Company also proposes that a scrip dividend election will be
offered to shareholders with Hong Kong address. Subject to the
approval of shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting,
the proposed final dividend is expected to be paid on 2nd December,
2008. CCAA Group Limited, the substantial shareholder with 71.82%
interest of the Company, has committed to elect to receive the final
dividend in the form of scrip.

Closure of Registers of Members

The registers of members of the Company will be closed from 18th
August, 2008 to 22nd August, 2008, both days inclusive, during which
period no transfer of shares will be registered.

In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all completed transfer
forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
with the Company’s Share Registrars in Hong Kong, Tricor Standard
Limited, at 26th Floor, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai,
Hong Kong for registration no later than 4:00 p.m. on 15th August,
2008.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A strong liquidity inflow and China’s relaxation of rules governing the
Qualified Domestic Institutional Investors (QDII) scheme, the Hang
Seng Index reached a record high of 31,958 points in year 2007.
That was a substantial increase of over 60% when compared with the
last trading day of 2006. During the month of October 2007, Hang
Seng Index’s monthly turnover peaked at a record of HK$3,473,846
million. However, the austerity measures implemented by the Chinese
government to cool down the overheated economy, and aftermath effect
of the subprime mortgage crisis, worldwide securities markets including
Hong Kong market corrected sharply since November 2007. Hang Seng
Index dropped to 22,102 as at 30th June, 2008, a 31% decrease when
compared with the record high of 31,958 points in year 2007.
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The United States Federal Reserve had reduced its benchmark interest
rate for several times during the past 12 months. Banks in Hong
Kong individually followed and cut the interest rate as well. These
interest rate cuts were aimed to restore confidence in the economy
after the subprime mortgage problems. However, the low interest rate
triggered enormous interests in the real-estate markets. The total real-
estate transactions for the first five months of 2008 has increased
to HK$23,124.6 billion, an over 43 times increase when compared
with 2007 full year turnover of HK$525.6 billion. This prosperous and
active property market environment will benefit the Group’s property
investment.

For the year ended 31st March, 2008, the Group recorded a turnover
of HK$294,955,000 (2007: HK$207,979,000). The increase in turnover
was principally caused by two key factors. The first was an increase
in financial service and property investment business turnover from
HK$97,818,000 to HK$100,344,000, a 3% increase. The other key factor
was the continuous turnover contribution from precious metal trading of
HK$194,611,000. After excluding the increase in fair value of investment
property, net profit generated from our financial services and property
investments increased to HK$64,089,000 from HK$51,596,000 of 2007,
a 24%. Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company amounted
to HK$156,101,000 (2007: HK$213,603,000).
were HK12.2 cents (2007: HK16.9 cents). The improvement in profit

Earnings per share

from operating business was resulted from the efforts of the Group to
diversify into the Macau property market and to expand horizontally in
the financial services sector.

Financing

Turnover within the money lending business and margin financing
activities decreased by approximately 15% to HK$47,300,000 (2007:
HK$55,957,000). This division contributed HK$35,806,000 profit (2007:
HK$41,570,000) to the Group.

Securities and Commodities Brokerage

Our securities and commodities brokerage division was benefited by
the buoyant stock market of the second half of 2007. Turnover and profit
attributable to the Group had significantly increased to HK$44,285,000
(2007: HK$29,348,000) and HK$23,333,000 (2007: HK$10,278,000)
respectively. When compared with last year’'s corresponding period,
turnover and profit attributable to the Group increased by 51% and
127% respectively.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED
(R & %K EARL)
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Corporate Finance

Our corporate finance division turnover decreased from HK$5,812,000
to HK$444,000. This division recorded an attributable profit of
HK$438,000 for the year under review. The division will continue to
focus on different types of financial advisory, placing and IPO business.

Assets Management

The Group continued to act as the investment manager of two
companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange under
Chapter 21 (Investment Companies) of the Listing Rules. This year, a
performance mechanism had been adopted with one of the mentioned
clients. Under this arrangement, our performance fee will be increased
or decreased in accordance with the client’s performance. Subject to
approval of the client's audited financial statement, it is estimated a
special bonus of HK$4.1 million will be recorded in the forthcoming
financial year. For the financial year under review, this division’s
turnover increased 7% to HK$3,187,000.

Property Investments

For the year ended 31st March, 2008, the rental income amounted
to HK$5,128,000, a 38% increase when compared with last year's
corresponding period. This division’s attributable profit increased over
142% to HK$2,298,000. Chino Plaza (the “Plaza”) in Macau contributed
over 90% of the rental income of to the Group. The management had
successfully implemented a tenant re-organisation scheme by securing
well-known tenants, e.g. a large supermarket, an American fast food
chain store and a bank. These well-known tenants not only increase
customers flow to the Plaza, but they also enhance the Plaza’s overall
image which in turn translates into substantial increases in the rental
income of the Plaza.

Precious Metal Trading

The Group commenced precious metal business through a 75% owned
subsidiary. This subsidiary provides one stop precious metal service
including physical trading, industrial product trading and financing by
collaborating with major players in the market such as Johnson Matthey,
The Standard Bank, Wing Hang Bank and Bank of China etc. This
segment recorded a turnover of HK$194,611,000.
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Litigation

The liquidators (the “Liquidators”) of Baker Group International Holdings
Limited (“Baker Group”) has commenced a High Court Action against
Upbest Securities Company Limited (“Upbest Securities”) by a Writ of
Summons served on Upbest Securities on 5th June, 2008 for, inter alia,
damages for breach of fiduciary duties when advising Baker Group in
certain transactions in 2000. By way of the endorsement of claims in
the Writ, the Liquidators have only set out the heads of their claim in
brief terms. The Writ was preceded by several years of investigation
by the Liquidators and over 13 months of inaction against Upbest
Securiteis. In the course of dealing with the investigation on behalf
of Upbest Securities, Upbest Securities’s legal advisors had already
found the Liquidators’ claim muddled and ill-conceived. Subject to what
may transpire upon any Liquidators’ further action to substantiate their
claims, it is not presently expected by the Board that the matter would
affect the business operation and financial performance of the Group.

Prospect

Worries of recession or stagflation in US, an overheating China
economy, Olympic effects and inflationary pressures create
uncertainties to the domestic and global stock markets in the near
future. In order to maintain steady and stable profit growth in a
rapidly changing global economy, our Group will maintain a balanced
development within broking, financing, asset management, corporate
finance, property investment and precious metal trading business
segmentand to maintain effective costs and prudent risk management
to control overall costs on the other hand. Our property investments
started to bear fruit during the past few years. The Group will continue
to seek suitable investment opportunities in this direction and aim to

bring reasonable and stable return to its shareholders.

Financial review

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31st March, 2008, the Group had cash and bank balances
of approximately HK$181 million (2007: HK$140 million) of which
approximately HK$70 million (2007: HK$70 million) were pledged
to bank for facilities granted to the Group. The Company has given
guarantees to the extent of HK$336 million (2007: HK$368 million) to
secure the facilities granted to subsidiaries.

As at 31st March, 2008, the Group had available aggregate banking
facilities of approximately HK$336 million (2007: HK$378 million) of
which approximately HK$253 million (2007: HK$212 million) was not
utilised.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED
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Gearing Ratio

As at 31st March, 2008, the amount of total borrowings was
approximately HK$81 million (2007: HK$493 million). The gearing (net
interest bearing debts) being equal to approximately 8.9% (2007:
47.16%) of the net assets of approximately HK$918 million (2007:
HK$774 million).

Foreign Currency Fluctuation

During the year, the Group mainly uses Hong Kong dollars, Macau
Pataca and United States dollars to carry out its business transactions.
The Board considers the foreign currency exposure is insignificant.

Employment
Employees’ remuneration are fixed and determined with reference to
the market remuneration.

Share Option
The Company does not have share option scheme.

Credit Control

The Group has been practicing tight credit control policy. A credit
committee composed of three executive directors is responsible for
overseeing the granting of credit facilities. Daily operation of money
lending will be guided by the stringent procedures as prescribed by the
internal control manual.

Compliance Steering Committee

During the year, the Group had set up a Compliance Steering
Committee which aims to maintain a good corporate governance
environment for the Group. The Board believed that this will help to
enhance the Group’s expanding process in the future.

Appreciation

The Board would like to take this opportunity to express our
appreciation to the continued dedication of the management, staff
and to all shareholders, customers and banker for their support of our
Group.

On behalf of the Board

Dr. Wong King Keung, Peter
Chairman

Hong Kong, 18th July, 2008
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Non-Executive Director and Chairman

Dr. Wong King Keung, Peter (BBS, JP), aged 62, is a non-executive
director and chairman of the Company. He earned his first two degrees
from the University of Hong Kong and his final doctorate from Queen’s
University, Canada in the field of Civil Engineering. He has managed
companies involved in engineering services, construction, real estate,
industrial manufacturing and China trade. He was previously involved
in public service as member of the Town Planning Board and Arts
Development Council. He is also currently a member of the Chinese
People's Political Consultative Conference, Institution for Promotion
of Chinese Culture and the Macau Open University. Dr. Wong ceased
to be the independent non-executive director of China Rich Holdings
Limited (Stock Code: 1191). Save as disclosed above, Dr. Wong has
not held directorship in any listed public companies in Hong Kong for
the past three years.

Mr. Wong Ching Hung, Thomas, aged 57, is a non-executive director
of the Company. Mr. Wong received his master’s degree in Accounting
Science from the University of lllinois, USA and master’s degree in
Commerce from the University of New South Wales, Australia. He
is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and CPA Australia as well as a member of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants in Australia. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Wong
has not held directorship in any listed public companies in Hong Kong
for the past three years.

Executive Directors

Mr. Cheng Kai Ming, Charles, aged 61, is an executive director and
managing director of the Company. He is also the founder of the Group.
He is responsible for overseeing the daily operation of the Group. Mr.
Cheng is a full member of the Hong Kong Securities Institute and has
professional qualifications in both accounting and marketing. He has
been engaged in the investment advisory, securities business and
property investment and development for over twenty years. At present,
Mr. Cheng is an investment adviser and a dealer registered under the
Securities Ordinance and a commodities dealer registered under the
Commodities Trading Ordinance and is a deemed responsible officer
under the Securities and Futures Ordinance. Save as disclosed above,
Mr. Cheng has not held directorship in any listed public companies in
Hong Kong for the past three years.
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Mr. Suen Man Tak, Stephen, aged 50, is an executive director and
deputy managing director of the Company. He is responsible for
overseeing the compliance and daily operations of the Company.
Mr. Suen received his Bachelor Degree in Social Science from the
Chinese University of Hong Kong. He also received his Master degree
in Accountancy from the Charles Sturt University. He is a member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Australian
Society of CPA and Hong Kong Securities Institute. Prior to joining the
Company, he had served with the Securities and Futures Commission
for almost 18 years and was a Director of Enforcement since 1999.
Save as disclosed above, Mr. Suen has not held directorship in any
listed public companies in Hong Kong for the past three years.

Mr. Li Kwok Cheung, George, aged 47, is an executive director and
the company secretary of the Company. Mr. Li has joined the Group
since 1996 and is responsible for business development and marketing
of the Group. He has been a dealing director of Upbest Securities
Company Limited since 1st May, 2000. He holds a master's degree in
international marketing from the University of Strathclyde in Glasgow,
Scotland, United Kingdom and is a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants and an associate member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He had worked
as a senior manager of the compliance division (currently known as
regulation division) of the Stock Exchange for seven years before
joining the investment advisory and securities industry in 1995. Mr. Li
had also served with an international audit firm for five years. Mr. Li
is an investment adviser and a dealer registered under the Securities
Ordinance and is a deemed responsible officer under the Securities
and Futures Ordinance. He is also an executive director of UBA
Investments Limited (Stock Code: 768). Save as disclosed above, Mr. Li
has not held directorship in any listed public companies in Hong Kong
for the past three years.

Ms. Cheng Wai Ling Annie, aged 29, is an executive director of the
Company. She is responsible for overseeing the daily operations of
the Company. Ms. Cheng received her bachelor degree in Business
Administration (Accounting and Finance) from the University of Hong
Kong and is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales. Prior to joining the Company, she had served with an
international audit firm. Save as disclosed above, Ms. Cheng has not
held directorship in any listed public companies in Hong Kong for the
past three years.

Mr. Cheng Wai Lun, Andrew, aged 35, is an executive director of the
Company. He obtained his bachelor’s degree from the California State
University, USA. He has over eight years’ experience in securities,
corporate finance and direct investment. He is also an executive
director of UBA Investments Limited (Stock Code: 768). Save as
disclosed above, Mr. Cheng has not held directorship in any listed
public companies in Hong Kong for the past three years.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Pang Cheung Hing, Alex, aged 53, is an independent non-
executive director, member of the audit committee and member of the
remuneration committee of the Company. Prior to November 2001, Mr.
Pang worked as a senior director in the Enforcement Division of the
Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong. From November
2001 to February 2003, he served as a Commissioner in the Strategy
& Development Committee of the China Securities Regulatory
Commission. He is now running his own consultancy company. He also
holds directorship in a fund management company based in Shanghai.
Professionally, he is a fellow member of both the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. He is also an associate member of the Chartered Institute
of Management Accountants and Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Pang has not held any
directorship in any listed public companies in Hong Kong for the past
three years.

Mr. Chan Chung Yee, Alan, aged 41, is an independent non-
executive director, member of the audit committee and member of the
remuneration committee of the Company. Mr. Chan holds two master
degrees of Practising Accounting and Business Law from Monash
University, Australia. Professionally, he is a fellow member of The
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators in UK, The Hong
Kong Institute of Company Secretaries and The Hong Kong Institute
of Directors. He is also an associate member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, CPA Australia, Institute of
Certified Management Accountants of Australia, and The Hong Kong
Institute of Bankers. He is also a member of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference of Yun Fu, Guangdong and the
secretarial general of China Hong Kong Macau Boundary Crossing Bus
Association. Currently, he is the managing director and founder of a
transportation company which is a subsidiary of a listed company. He is
also an independent non-executive director of UBA Investments Limited
(Stock Code: 768). Save as disclosed above, Mr. Chan has not held any
directorship in any listed public companies in Hong Kong for the past
three years.

Mr. Fuk Ho Kai, aged 34, is an independent non-executive director
of the Company. He has over 10 years experience in the field of IT &
management consulting. Mr. Fuk obtained a Bachelor degree from the
Chinese University of Hong Kong. He is currently the management of
a mainland IT & management consulting firm. Mr. Fuk has not held
directorship in any listed public companies in Hong Kong for the past
three years.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED
(R & %K EARL)
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The board of directors (the “Board”) has pleasure in presenting its
report and the audited financial statements of Upbest Group Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the
year ended 31st March, 2008.

Principal activities

The principal activity of the Company was investment holding. Its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in securities broking, futures
broking, securities margin financing, money lending, corporate finance
advisory, assets management, precious metal trading and property
investment.

Segment information
Details of segment information by principal businesses and
geographical locations are set out in note 8 to the financial statements.

Subsidiaries
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at 31st March, 2008 are set out in
note 19 to the financial statements.

Results
The results of the Group for the year ended 31st March, 2008 are set
out in the consolidated income statement on page 36.

Dividends

The Board has resolved to recommend the payment of a final dividend
of HK3.0 cents per ordinary share in respect of the year to the
shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of the
Company on 2nd December 2008. The Company also proposes that a
scrip dividend election will be offered to shareholders with Hong Kong
address.

Share capital
Details of movements in share capital of the Company are set out in
note 33 to the financial statements.
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Financial summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out below. This summary is not

part of the audited financial statements.
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BBE
UATRAEENBERANBEEZEERE
ERARIHE UBELFEELHHRE
Z BB o

RESULTS EF
Year ended 31st March
BE=ZB=1t—HILEE
(In HK$'000) (LOBBTF T REN) 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
Turnover EER 294,955 207,979 77,216 58,175 74,185
Profit before taxation BR 7% A1 e 7 167,454 225,420 167,013 90,039 46,441
Taxation Tt I8 (11,365) (10,847) (11,724) (6,551) (8,297)
Net profit for the year REZARABER
attributable to equity A ARG RT]
holders of the Company 156,101 213,603 155,296 83,488 38,144
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEHEE
31st March
=H=+—H
(In HK$000) (LB FrBE) 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
Total assets BESE 1,197,437 1,440,077 1,093,931 751,135 486,050
Total liabilities BfREE (279,214)  (666,080)  (528,092)  (352,202)  (311,940)
Net assets BEFE 918,223 773,997 565,839 398,933 174,110

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED
(R & %K EARL)
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Reserves
Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the
year are set out in note 34 to the financial statements.

The Company’s reserves available for distribution represent the
share premium, contributed surplus, retained profits and proposed
final dividend under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. The
share premium of the Company is available for paying dividends to
shareholders subject to the provisions of its Memorandum and Articles
of Association and provided that immediately following the distribution
of dividend the Company is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the
ordinary course of business. In accordance with the Company’s Articles
of Association, dividends can be distributed out of the share premium,
contributed surplus, retained profits and proposed final dividend
of the Company which in aggregate amounted to approximately
HK$332,717,000 as at 31st March, 2008.

Donation
Donation made by the Group during the year for charitable purposes
amounted to HK$9,210.

Property, plant and equipment and investment properties

The Group’s investment properties were revalued at 31st March, 2008,
resulting in a fair value gain amounting to HK$92,000,000 which has
been recognised in the income statement.

Details of these and other movements during the year in the property,
plant and equipment and investment properties are set out in notes 16
and 17 to the financial statements, respectively.

Borrowings

Bank overdrafts and other borrowings repayable within one year or on
demand are classified as current liabilities. A repayment analysis of
bank borrowings is set out in note 30 to the financial statements. No
interest was capitalised by the Group during the year.

Major clients

For the year ended 31st March, 2008, the Group’s five largest
clients accounted for in aggregate approximately 41% (2007: 43%)
of the Group’s turnover, of which the largest client accounted for
approximately 8% (2007: 15%) of the Group’s turnover.

None of the directors or any of their associates or any shareholder of
the Company which to the knowledge of the directors of the Company
owned more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital have an
interest in the Group’s five largest clients.
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Repurchase, sale or redemption of the Company’s listed securities
For the year ended 31st March, 2008, other than as an agent for clients
of the Company or its subsidiaries, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries repurchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
listed securities during the year.

Directors
The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
report were:

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Dr. Wong King Keung, Peter (Chairman)
Mr. Wong Ching Hung, Thomas (Re-designated on 19th October, 2007)

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Cheng Kai Ming, Charles

Mr. Suen Man Tak, Stephen (Appointed on 3rd April, 2007)
Mr. Li Kwok Cheung, George

Ms. Cheng Wai Ling, Annie

Mr. Cheng Wai Lun, Andrew (Appointed on 16th July, 2007)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Chung Yee, Alan (Appointed on 19th September, 2007)

Mr. Pang Cheung Hing, Alex

Mr. Fuk Ho Kai

Mr. Wong Wai Kwong, David (Resigned on 3rd August, 2007)

Mr. Ng Yick Man, Andy (Appointed on 16th July, 2007 and resigned on
1st August, 2007)

In accordance with Articles 116 and 119 of the Company’s Articles of
Association Dr. Wong King Keung, Peter, Ms Cheng Wai Ling, Annie,
Mr. Pang Cheung Hing, Alex, Mr. Chan Chung Yee, Alan and Mr.
Fuk Ho Kai shall retire by rotation from office at the Annual General
Meeting. Dr. Wong King Keung, Peter, due to his personal reason, will
not offer himself for re-election. Dr. Wong King Keung, Peter confirmed
that he has no disagreement with the Board and there is no matter in
respect of his retirement that needs to be brought to the attention of the
Shareholders. Ms. Cheng Wai Ling, Annie, Mr. Pang Cheung Hing, Alex,
Mr. Chan Chung Yee, Alan and Mr. Fuk Ho Kai being eligible, offers
themselves for re-election at the Annual General Meeting.

The term of office of each of the independent non-executive directors
lasts until his retirement by rotation as required by the Company’s
Articles of Association.

The Company received confirmation of independence in respect of
the year ended 31st March, 2008 from each of the independent non-
executive directors pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Revised Listing Rules.
Up to and as at the date of this report, the Company still considers the
independent non-executive directors to be independent.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED
(R & %K EARL)
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Directors’ service contracts

None of the directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company or
any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

Directors’ and chief executives’ interests and short positions in
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
or any associated corporation

As at 31st March, 2008, the interests and short positions of the directors
and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which are required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO) or which are required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to
be entered in the register referred to therein, or which are required,
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Companies to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange were as follows:
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Number of shares
kt#E

Personal Family

interests interests Percentage

(held as (interest Corporate Other of issued
Name of director beneficial owner)  of spouse) interests interests Total ~ share capital

fAAER FEER BEARE
EES 2 (RERAEA)  (EREER) EEER EfrEs ag BAL
Ordinary Shares of HK$0.01 each A2 AEREB0.0ETZ

in the Company EER

Cheng Kai Ming, Charles (Note) B59 (Hi2) = 926,445,657 - 926,445,657 71.51%
Cheng Wai Ling, Annie (Note) B (W) - 926,445,657 - 926,445,657 7151%
Cheng Wai Lun, Andrew (Note) &R () - 926,445,657 - 926,445,657 7151%
Suen Man Tak, Stephen Bz 754,000 = = 754,000 0.06%

Note: As at the Latest Practicable Date, CCAA Group Limited (“CCAA”), an
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) of the
Company, was directly interested in 930,475,657 Shares in, representing
approximately 71.82% of, the issued share capital of the Company. Mr.
Cheng Kai Ming, Charles, Ms. Cheng Wai Ling, Annie, Mr. Cheng Wai
Lun, Andrew and their family members are the beneficiaries of the trust
which assets include interests in the entire issued share capital of CCAA
and accordingly, they are deemed to be interested in 930,475,657
Shares and the entire issued share capital of CCAA under the SFO.

Mz ReEERTEH AEEZABEIBES
BEA LB E KNG EXVE)CCAA Group
Limited ([ CCAA |) E %2 # 5930,475,657/1%
B HIEARREETRAZ71.82% ° B
REALE BRERENE BEHREERER
ABlEEZZEA MEERIECCAAFA
BRITRA Bt BREZFHFRBEKM -
®EWAE A 930,475,657 AX 1D RCCAA
FTEBBITIRA -
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At no time during the period was the Company, its subsidiaries or ZAQ & HffBAG st EBE A ERNHA
its associated companies a party to any arrangements to enable the (BRI EERFMTH @ FRAQFES
directors or executives of the Company (including their spouse and fTHAE (BIEERERT/\HmNATF2) Al
children under 18 years of age) to acquire benefits by means of the BEARARHEBLE AR ZBRESELEMMED

acquisition in shares or debentures of the Company or its associated 15z °
corporations.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31st March, 2008, none of the directors ﬁ%t‘xﬁﬂﬁﬁ?%&l\ TRZEENF=ZRA=1+—
or the chief executive of the Company had any interest or short position %E%ﬂ$’“ﬂ§$im BITHRABERARA
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or ‘Jzﬁ{ﬂﬁﬁ BOEE (T R(EAREBEEM)
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the ~ EXVE) 2 &7 - AR D R EH TS 7
SFO) which are required to be notified to the Company and the Stock sk & /Emy‘é( 5 R ERE 1551 ) EXVED
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including ~ £7Kk8H Hp4l & KA 7 LI BT (B iR (&
interests and short positions which they are taken or deemed to have %&Eﬁfﬂﬂﬁﬂ)ﬁfﬁ1‘7|<X?)§%1’E32?ﬁ7%%*ﬁ2%
under such provisions of the SFO) or which are required, pursuant to  #=NIKE) » HBRE(GEH R EEEM) 5352
section 352 of the SFO to be entered in the register referred to therein, &8 F 5 AZ (&6 prit 2 &2 fit » s8R B £
or which are required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities T AT EZRITELET HHIELESFA) 28T
Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies to be notified to the & ARAF MBI -

Company and the Stock Exchange.

Directors’ rights to acquire shares or debentures EZBERNUESZER

At no time during the year was the Company, its ultimate holding HE&AH@HMA A2 F - ANA R Z KA E sk
company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable  HIfB R A ELQEEF AN ESH T E T
the directors or chief executives of the Company or their respective HAEBHHEEZEBHRERET/\HU T 2ZF
spouse or children under the age of 18 to acquire benefits by means of — # AJ & Z B A R 2 7] ok (F 7] H ) A B 22 2 BR
the acquisition of shares in, or debt securities (including debentures) M EiEKE % (BIEES) MESFZ 2 FAR

of, the Company or any other body corporate. e
Substantial shareholder’s interests and short positions in the FERRARNDB ZBRHRBEERD 2 ER
shares, underlying shares of the Company )587:8)

As at 31st March, 2008, the following persons or corporations, interest RZZEENE=A=+—H T ATHEE
in 5% or more in the shares and underlying shares of the Company B AR ARG RIBERME5%IA 2 K5

have been notified to the Company and recorded in the register #zZmNMABEMAEARA R WHEIREZH L
of substantial shareholders’ interests in shares and short positions & {EHI EXVEEE336IE M ELHEN T ERFE

required to be kept under Section 336 of Part XV of the SFO: ot
Percentage of
total number of
Name of shareholders Number of shares held shares in issued
BRERERE FEEERREEE HERITROBDL

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each A2 F&EREE0.0187T 2

in the Company EER
CCAA (Note) CCAA (Hi:#) 926,445,657 71.51%
Note: Identical to those disclosed above as “Directors’ and chief executives’  ffs: HEEXEBEZ [EZRTHABRARTF ’JZ
interests and short positions in the shares, underlying shares and EfBE N E 2 KRG HEARDRESFZ
debentures of the Company or any associated corporation”. = R A MR o
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31st March, 2008, the Directors are not
aware of any other persons who have interests or short positions in the
shares, underlying shares of equity derivatives or debentures of the
Company or any associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) which would be required to be disclosed to the Company
pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.

Directors’ remuneration

The Directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at general
meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Company’s board
of directors with reference to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and
performance and the results of the Group. In addition, the Directors’
remuneration is reviewed by the Remuneration Committee annually.

Directors’ interests in contracts

No director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any
contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the year.

Connected transactions and continuing connected transactions
During the year, the connected transactions and continuing connected
transactions undertaken by the Group are included in the transactions
set out in note 36 to the financial statements. Details of these continuing
connected transactions were disclosed in the Company’s announcement
and circular dated 2nd May, 2008 and 22nd May, 2008. The financial
assistance provided by the Group to UBA Investments Limited and
its subsidiaries (“UBA Group”) prior to the approval by shareholders
during the extraordinary general meeting held on 10th June, 2008
had exceeded the then applicable thresholds for reporting, disclosure
and/or approval of independent shareholders of the Group and UBA
Group. The amount of the financial assistance has not been disclosed
or, if required, approved by independent shareholders of the Group
and UBA Group. Both the board of directors of the Group and UBA
Group confirm that the non-compliance of the Listing Rules were due to
unintentional and inadvertent oversight of the requirements concerning
financial assistance. Both board of directors of the Group and UBA
Group further confirm that there has been no damage or monetary loss
to the assets of the Group or UBA Group as a result of such oversight
and that the terms of provision of financial assistance were provided
on normal commercial terms. Save for disclosed above, during the
year, the Company and the Group had entered into the connected and
continuing connected transactions as set out in note 36, certain details
of which are disclosed in compliance with the requirements of Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.
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The independent non-executive directors have reviewed the connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions in note 36 to
the financial statements and have confirmed that the connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions have been entered
into (i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group; (ii) on
normal commercial terms or on terms no less favourable to the Group
than terms available to or from (as appropriate) independent third
parties; and (iii) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing
them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
shareholders of the Company as a whole.

Management contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year.

Pre-emptive rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders under the Company’s Memorandum and Articles of
Association and the Companies Laws of the Cayman Islands.

Audit committee

The Company has established an audit committee according to “A
Guide for the Formation of an Audit Committee” published by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The primary duties of
the audit committee are to review and supervise the financial reporting
process and internal control system of the Group.

The audit committee of the Group consists of three independent
non-executive directors, namely Mr. Pang Cheung Hing, Alex, Mr,
Chan Chung Yee, Alan and Mr. Fuk Ho Kai. The audit committee had
reviewed with management the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group and discussed auditing, internal control and
financial reporting matters including the review of the audited financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31st March, 2008. The
Audit Committee had also reviewed the annual results of the Group for
the year ended 31st March, 2008 in conjunction with the Company’s
external auditors.

Code on corporate governance practices

The Listing Rules have recently been amended by the Stock Exchange
by replacing the Code of Best Practice in Appendix 14 by a new
Code on Corporate Governance Practices (“Code”) and adding a new
Appendix 23 on the requirements for a Corporate Governance Report
to be included in annual reports of Listed Issuers. Subject to certain
transitional arrangements, the amendments took effect on 1st January,
2005.
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The Company has complied with the Code throughout the year ended
31st March, 2008, with deviations from code provisions A.4.1 of the
Code only in respect of the service term of directors.

None of the existing non-executive directors (including independent
non-executive directors) of the Company is appointed for a specific
term. This constitutes a deviation from code provision A.4.1 of the
Code. However, all the directors of the Company are subject to the
retirement provisions under article 116 of the Articles of Association of
the Company. As such, the Company considers that sufficient measures
have been taken to ensure that the Company’s corporate governance
practices are no less exacting than those in the Code.

Model code for securities transactions by directors
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors by Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules. Upon enquiry by the Company, all Directors of
the Company have confirmed that they have complied with the required
standards set out in the Model Code throughout the year.

Directors’ interests in competing businesses

As at 31st March, 2008, none of the directors of the Company and their
associates had any interests in an entity whose business competes or
is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the Company’s
business.

Corporate governance

The Company’s corporate governance principles and practices are
set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 22 to 23 of this
Annual Report.

Sufficiency of public float

According to the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the directors, the percentage of the
Company'’s shares which are in the hands of the public is not less than
25% of the Company'’s total number of issued shares.

Auditors
Messrs. Li, Tang, Chen & Co. acted as auditors of the Company for the
years ended 31st March, 2006, 2007 and 2008.

Messrs. Li, Tang, Chen & Co. retire and a resolution for their
reappointment as auditors of the Company will be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board
Li Kwok Cheung, George
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 18th July, 2008
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Corporate Governance

The Board of Directors of the Upbest Group Limited (the “Company”)
(the “Board”) is committed to maintain high standards of corporate
governance practices, which are crucial to the smooth, effective
and transparent operation of the Company and its ability to attract
investment, protect rights of shareholders and stakeholders, and
enhance shareholder value. In November 2004, the Stock Exchange
introduced the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (“the Code”)
in replacement and enhancement of the Code of Best Practice in
Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”). The Code
become effective from 1st January, 2005 and the Group has followed
the Code provisions throughout the period.

Throughout the year ended 31st March, 2008, the Company has
complied with the Code with exception. Code provision A.4.1 provides
that non-executive directors should be appointed for a specific term,
subject to re-election. None of the non-executive directors has entered
or proposed to enter into any service contracts with the Company or
its subsidiaries. Accordingly, the non-executive directors have no set
term of office but they are subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years. As such, the Board considers that sufficient
measures have been taken to serve the purpose of the Code provision
A4

Throughout the financial year, the Company has consistently adopted
a code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions in
accordance with Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules and that directors of
the Company has complied with this code of conduct.

Corporate Governance Structure

With the assistance of the Compliance Department, the Board has
designed a proper corporate governance structure. Currently, there are
five board committees, including Audit Committee, Credit Committee,
Executive Committee, Remuneration Committee and Compliance
Steering Committee. Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee
perform their distinct roles in accordance with their respective terms of
reference. Executive Committee assists the Group to set up business
strategy and planning, and Credit Committee oversees the granting of
credit facilities.
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Board Composition, Function and Practices

The Board comprises of the chairman (non-executive director), one
non-executive director, five executive directors and three independent
non-executive directors. Mr. Wong King Keung, Peter acts as chairman
(“Chairman”) and non-executive director of the Board, whereas
Mr. Cheng Kai Ming, Charles is the managing director (“Managing
Director”) and executive director of the Company. Mr. Suen Man Tak,
Stepten is the deputy managing director and executive director. Mr.
Wong Ching Hung, Thomas is a non-executive director. Other executive
directors are Mr. Li Kwok Cheung, George, Ms. Cheng Wai Ling, Annie
and Mr. Cheng Wai Lun, Andrew. There are three independent non-
executive directors, Mr. Pang Cheung Hing, Alex, Mr. Chan Chung
Yee, Alan and Mr. Fuk Ho Kai. Mr. Chan Chung Yee, Alan and Mr,
Pang Cheung Hing, Alex have appropriate professional accounting
experience and expertise. All directors are subject to election by
shareholders at the first General Meeting after their appointment and
are subject to retirement by rotation at lease once every three years
and eligible for re-election in accordance with the Company’s Articles
and Association.

All directors have distinguished themselves in their field of expertise,
and have exhibited high standards of personal and professional ethics
and integrity. The biographical details of each director are disclosed in
pages 10 to 12 of this Annual Report.

Each independent non-executive director has pursuant to the rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules, confirmed that he is independent of the Company
and the Company also considers that they are independent.

There is no relationship (including financial, business, family or other
material relationship) among members of the Board except that Mr.
Cheng Kai Ming, Charles is the father of Ms. Cheng Wai Ling, Annie
and Mr. Cheng Wai Lun, Andrew.

The Board, headed by the Chairman, is responsible for formulation
and approval of the Group’s development and business strategies and
policies, approval of annual budgets and business plans, overseeing
the Group’s compliance with statutory and regulatory obligations,
scrutinizing the performance of the Group in achieving agreed
corporate goals and objectives, financial reporting and ensuring
proper internal control, risk management have been implemented,
recommendation of dividend, and supervision of management in
accordance with the rules governing the meeting of the Board, articles
of association and rules governing the meeting of shareholders.
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The executive directors are responsible for day-to-day management
of the Company’s operations. These executive directors conduct
regular meetings with the senior management of the Company and its
subsidiaries and associated companies, at which operational issues
and financial performance are evaluated.

Full Board meeting is held no less than four times a year. Apart from the
regular Board meetings, the Chairman shall hold meetings with the non-
executive directors (including independent non-executive directors)
without the presence of executive directors at least once every year.

In respect of regular board meetings, an agenda and accompanying
board papers are sent in full to all directors in a timely manner and
at least three days before the intended date of a board or board
committee meeting. Adequate information related to the issues are
also supplied for the board and its committee to make decisions
which is for the best interests of the Group. Notice of at least fourteen
days are given to all directors and all directors have an opportunity to
attend. The directors who cannot attend in person might through other
electronic means of communications to participate. Senior management
executives may, from time to time, be invited to attend the board
meeting for making presentation and/or answering any queries that may
be raised by the Board.

Proceedings of the Board and Respective Board Committees
Meetings

The Company Secretary will assist the chairman of the Board and the
respective board committees in setting agenda for meetings, and each
director is given an opportunity to include any matters to be transacted
in the agenda. Where any director is considered to be having a conflict
of interest in any transactions, the director concerned will not be
counted in the quorum of the relevant meeting.

Minutes of meetings of the Board and the respective board committees
are recorded in details. All draft minutes are circulated to all those
present at the meetings for comment before submission to the chairman
of the meetings for approval.
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During the financial year ended 31st March, 2008, the Board held 4
regular Board meetings at approximately quarterly interval. Due notice
and Board papers were given to all directors prior to the meeting in
accordance with the Company’s articles of association and the Code.
Board and the respective Board meeting(s) held during the period and
attendance of the individual directors are as follows:

it % B B

ﬁd:

REBEEZZTZT )\E A=+—BLEWEREE -
EXgCRTNATHESEEHE  ANEZ
— R iDELi‘D)SiE%A HERBEARRAA
BERBURFHESRENEREBESZ R
HANMER ESegRNEEELRE8eE
UWREEZZHEBRAT :

Attendance/Number of Meetings held

HEER/ BRESEHE

Executive Audit Remuneration
Committee Committee Committee
Name of directors Board Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
HITZE®  BRZEE yFMzEg
Esps EZgER 23 23 23
Total number of meetings eEAY 17 15 2 1
Non-executive Director FHTES
Dr. Wong King Keung, Peter (Chairman) ~ &2%18+ (/&) 13 NATER  NATER  NATER
Mr. Wong Ching Hung, Thomas (Note 1) & IESI &4 (A1 —) 11 7 NATER N/A TE R
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Cheng Kai Ming, Charles BRUA S & (FFHEATE)
(Managing Director) 17 15 N/A NEA 1
Mr. Suen Man Tak, Stephen BXELE (G EFHEE) 15 11 N/A ~E R N/A TE R
(Deputy Managing Director) (Note 2) (Hfiz=)
Mr. Li Kwok Cheung, George FEELE 17 15 N/A i N/A i@
Ms. Cheng Wai Ling, Annie BfE3e /A 17 14 N/A T N/A N
Mr. Cheng Wai Lun, Andrew (Note 3) BEREEWZEZ) 12 10  NATEAR N/A i A
Independent Non-executive Directors BUFHITES
Mr. Pang Cheung Hing, Alex YRAELE 16 N/A T 2 1
Mr. Chan Chung Yee, Alan (Note 4) BRoR s SEA (friE ) 8 N/A T8 A 1 1
Mr. Fuk Ho Kai BEELE 14 N/A NiEf 2 1

Note 1 Mr. Wong Ching Hung, Thomas has been re-designated from executive
director to non-executive director with effective from 19th October, 2007.

Note 2 Mr. Suen Man Tak, Stephen has been appointed as an executive director
and deputy managing director with effective from 3rd April, 2007.

Note 3 Mr. Cheng Wai Lun, Andrew has been appointed as an executive
director with effective from 16th July, 2007.

Note 4 Mr. Chan Chung Yee, Alan has been appointed as an independent non-
executive director with effective from 19th September, 2007.
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Independent Professional Advice

The Company has set up a procedure agreed by the Board for its
directors to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, and at the Company’s expense to discharge their duties
to the Company.

Chairman and Managing Director

The roles of the Chairman is separate from that of the Managing
Director and their responsibilities are clearly established. The Chairman
and Managing Director of the Company are Dr. Wong King Keung,
Peter and Mr. Cheng Kai Ming, Charles respectively. The Chairman is
responsible for providing leadership to the Board to ensure the Board
will act in the best interests of the Group.

The Managing Director will work with executive committee (including
head of each department) and other executive directors to manage
the businesses of the Group. The Managing Director is responsible for
the day-to-day management of the business of the Group, attends to
formulation and successful implementation of policies, and assumes full
accountability to the Board for all operations of the Group.

Two of the independent non-executive directors, namely Mr. Chan
Chung Yee, Alan, Alan and Mr. Pang Cheung Hing, Alex have the
appropriate professional accounting experiences and expertise. The
Board membership is covered by professionally qualified and widely
experienced personnel so as to bringing in valuable contribution and
different professional advices and consultancy for the development of
the Company. Over one-half of the Board members have recognised
professional securities and accounting qualifications.

In the course of discharging their duties, the directors act in good faith,
with due diligence and care, and in the best interests of the Company
and its shareholders. Their responsibilities include:

- Regular board meetings focusing on business strategy, operational
issues and financial performance.

- Active participation on the boards of subsidiaries and associated
companies.

- Approval of annual budgets for each operating company covering
strategy, financial and business performance, key risks and
opportunities.
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- Monitoring the quality, timeliness, relevance and reliability of
internal and external reporting.

- Monitoring and managing potential conflicts of interest of
management, Board members and shareholders, including misuse
of corporate assets and abuse in related party transaction.

- Ensuring processes are in place to maintain the overall integrity
of the Company, including financial statements, relationships with
suppliers, customers and other stakeholders, and compliance with
all laws and ethics.

To enable the Company’s directors to meet their obligations, an
appropriate organizational structure is in place with clearly defined
responsibilities and limits of authority.

Board Committees

A number of Board Committees, including Audit Committee, Credit
Committee, Executive Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Compliance Steering Committee, have been established by the Board to
strengthen its functions and to enhance its expertise. These committees
have been formed with specific written terms of reference which deal
clearly with the committees authority and duties.

Audit Committee

The Company has established an audit committee according to “A
Guide for the Formation of an Audit Committee” published by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. In accordance
with the requirements of the Code, the terms of reference of the Audit
Committee was revised and approved on 18th July, 2005 to comply
with the provisions set out in the Code. The primary duties of the audit
committee are to review and supervise the financial reporting system
and internal control procedures, review of the relationship with the
auditors and financial information of the Group. The revised terms
of reference, explaining its role and the authority delegated to it by
the Board are available for inspection on request at the Company’s
registered office.

The audit committee of the Company is composed of three independent
non-executive directors, namely Mr. Pang Cheung Hing, Alex, Mr. Chan
Chung Yee, Alan and Mr. Fuk Ho Kai. It is chaired by Mr. Pang Cheung
Hing, Alex. It reports directly to the Board and reviews matters within
the scope of audit, such as financial statements and internal controls,
to protect the interests of the Company’s shareholders.
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The Audit Committee meets regularly with the Company’s external
auditors to discuss audit process and accounting issues, and reviews
effectiveness of internal controls and risk evaluation. Written terms
of reference, which describes the authority and duties of the Audit
Committee and regularly reviewed and updated by the Board.

Set out below is the summary of work done in financial year 2007/2008:

- toreview of the financial statements for the year ended 31st March
2007 and for the six months ended 30th September, 2007;

- to review of effectiveness of the internal control system;

- to review of auditors’ statutory audit plan and letters of
representation; and

- to consider and approve 2007 audit fees and audit work.

The Audit Committee held 2 meetings during the year. Details of
individual attendance of its members are set out in the table above.

Credit Committee

A credit committee composed of three executive directors responsible
for overseeing the granting of credit facilities. Daily operation of money
lending will be guided by the stringent procedures as prescribed by
the internal control manual. The Committee meets weekly and ad-hoc
meetings will be held when market and economic conditions changes
significantly.

Executive Committee

The Committee is composed of the Group Managing Director, the CEO
and the heads of each departments of the Group. The Committee
manages the day-to-day business of the Group and meets regularly
to resolve problems, make decisions on business matters to achieve
corporate goals and objectives.
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Compliance Steering Committee

During the year, the Group had set up a Compliance Steering
Committee headed by the Deputy Managing Director. The objectives of
the Compliance Steering Committee are to:

- maintain and promote the fairness, efficiency, competitiveness
transparency and orderliness of the Group’s business;

- promote understanding by the staff members of the operation and
functioning of the Group’s business;

- provide appropriate protection for the Group’s clients; and

prevent crime and misconduct in the Group’s business.

The Compliance Steering Committee meets weekly to discuss any
current compliance issue and enhance our practice and relevant
compliance issue if necessary. It is believed that better and balanced
corporate governance environment will help to enhance the Group’s
expanding process which inturn translates into shareholder value in the
future.

Internal Control and Risk Management

The internal controls of the Group are designed to provide reasonable
assurance that the Group’s assets and shareholders’ investments are
safeguarded against unauthorised use or disposition, transactions are
executed in accordance with the management’s authorisation, proper
accounting records are maintained, and the relevant legislation and
regulations are being complied with.

Internal control procedures and risk management systems are in place
in each of the principal operating units of the Group. The Compliance
Department undertakes the role of reviewing and assessing the Group’s
internal control system implemented in the principal operations for their
respective effectiveness and efficiency on an annual basis.

The key tasks basically include:

- reviewing the Group’s principal activities and risk management
effectiveness;

- conducting comprehensive examination of the practices and
procedures as to the recognition of income and expenditure;
and internal controls of the business units of the Group on a
regular basis;
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- undertaking special reviews and investigations of areas for
improvement identified by management; and

- the Audit Committee of the Company reviews internal control
issues identified by external auditors, regulatory authorities and
management, and evaluates the adequacy and effectiveness of
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems.

The Compliance Department has conducted a thorough review and
assessment of the Group’s existing internal control system. The
review covers all material activities, including finance, operational and
compliance controls and risk management.

Finance

The Company’s assets were used in an appropriate manner, the
expenditures in each of the operating units of the Group were under a
strict control, expenditures exceeding certain predetermined amounts
needed management’s authorisation. Accounting records were properly
maintained.

Operation

A hierarchical system with proper work flow and reporting procedures
was duly established in each of the operating units. Every employee
was assigned with a specific area of duty and responsibility.

Regular meetings with the attendance of senior management and
representatives from each of the operating units were held during the
year so as to improve communication and identify potential issues
within the Group.

Listing Rules Compliance

During the year, the connected transactions and continuing connected
transactions undertaken by the Group are included in the transactions
set out in note 36 to the financial statements. Details of these continuing
connected transactions were disclosed in the Company’s announcement
and circular dated 2nd May, 2008 and 22nd May, 2008. The financial
assistance provided by the Group to UBA Investments Limited and
its subsidiaries (“UBA Group”) prior to the approval by shareholders
during the extraordinary general meeting held on 10th June, 2008
had exceeded the then applicable thresholds for reporting, disclosure
and/or approval of independent shareholders of the Group and UBA
Group. The amount of the financial assistance has not been disclosed
or, if required, approved by independent shareholders of the Group
and UBA Group. Both the board of directors of the Group and UBA
Group confirm that the non-compliance of the Listing Rules were due to
unintentional and inadvertent oversight of the requirements concerning
financial assistance. Both board of directors of the Group and UBA
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Group further confirm that there has been no damage or monetary loss
to the assets of the Group or UBA Group as a result of such oversight
and that the terms of provision of financial assistance were provided
on normal commercial terms. Save for disclosed above, throughout the
year, the Group has fully complied with the Listing Rules requirements.
Financial reports, announcements and circulars have been prepared
and published in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

Summary Remarks

The Board is satisfied that by and large, adequate remedial
measures have been taken to address the issues identified by the
Stock Exchange. The Listing Rules Task Force has been formed and
continued to monitor the operations of the Company. The prevailing
internal control system is compliant with all the requirements of the
Listing Rules.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprised of independent non-executive
directors, Mr. Pang Cheung Hing, Alex, Mr. Chan Chung Yee, Alan, Mr.
Fuk Ho Kai and Managing Director, Mr. Cheng Kai Ming, Charles. Mr.
Chan Chung Yee, Alan is appointed as chairman of the Remuneration
Committee. The Committee shall meet not less than once every year.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee have been
reviewed with reference to the Corporate Governance Code.

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee are to
review and consider the Company’s policy for remuneration of directors
and senior management, to determine remuneration packages of
executive directors and senior management including benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments, and to recommend to the
Board remuneration of non-executive directors and independent non-
executive directors.

Set out below is the summary of work of the Remuneration Committee
done in financial year 2007/2008:—

- toreview of the remuneration policy for 2007/2008;

- to review of the remuneration of the executive directors, non-
executive directors and the independent non-executive directors;
and

—  toreview of the annual share option policy (if any).

The Remuneration Committee held 1 meeting during the financial

year ended 31st March, 2008. Details of individual attendance of its
members are set out in the table above.
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Nomination of Directors

Mr. Wong Ching Hung, Thomas has been re-designated from executive
director to non-exeuctive director with effective from 19th October,
2007.

Mr. Suen Man Tak, Stephen has been appointed as deputy managing
director and executive director with effective from 3rd April, 2007.

Mr. Cheng Wai Lun, Andrew has been appointed as an executive
director with effective from 16th July 2007.

Mr. Chan Chung Yee, Alan has been appointed as an independent non-
executive director with effective from 19th September, 2007.

Mr. Wong Wai Kwong, David has been resigned on 3rd August, 2007.

Mr. Ng Yick Man, Andy has been appointed as an independent non-
executive director with effective from 16th July, 2007 and has been
resigned on 1st August, 2007.

The Board has not established a nomination committee. Pursuant to the
articles of association of the Company, the Board has the power from
time to time and at any time to appoint any person as director either
to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board. In assessing
nomination of new directors, the Board has taken into consideration
of the nominee’s qualification, ability and potential contributions to the
Company.

Model code for securities transactions by directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules as the codes of conduct regarding securities
transactions by directors. All directors have confirmed, following
specific enquiry by the Company, that they fully complied with the
Model Code throughout the year.

The Company has also established written guidelines regarding
securities transaction on no less exacting terms of the Model Code for
senior management and specific individual who may have access to
price sensitive information in relation to the securities of the Company.
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External Auditors

During the year and up to the date of this report, the remuneration paid
to the Group’s existing external auditors, Li, Tang, Chen & Co., are set
out as follows:

Services rendered

it % B B

$ﬁd:

SN BEM
FARBEEARERY ARECNRENE
GBMFSREMEBHZMEENMT -

for the Group Fees paid Fees payable
A BRME 2 R ERZER BN z&R

HK$ HK$

BT BT
Audit services BT IR 390,000 369,000
Taxation services T 7% AR 1% 18,600 =
Total BET 408,600 369,000

Going Concern

The Board, having made appropriate enquiries, considers that the
Company has adequate resources to continue in operational existence
for the foreseeable future and that for this reason, it is appropriate to
adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

Communication with Shareholders

Communications between the Company and its shareholders can be
through several means. The shareholders can visit the Company’s
website at www.upbest.com to learn the general background of the
Company and its activities, which enable the general public to have
a better understanding of the Group. Extensive and detail information
related to the Group’s activities and financial data can be retrieved
from the annual report and interim report issued. In addition, the annual
general meeting provides an opportunity for direct communication
between the Board and the Company’s shareholders.

Directors’ responsibility in preparing the financial statements
The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibilities in preparing
the Financial Statements. The Statements of the Auditors about their
reporting responsibilities on the Financial Statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor’'s Report on pages 34 to 35.

Corporate Governance Enhancement

Enhancing corporate governance is not simply a matter of applying and
comlying with the Corporate Governance Code of the Stock Exchange
but about promoting and developing an ethical and healthy corporate
culture. We will continue to review and, where appropriate, improve our
current practices on the basis of our experience, regulatory changes
and developments. Any views and suggestions from our shareholders
to promote and improve our transparency are also welcome.
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CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS (PRACTISING)

To the shareholders of
Upbest Group Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Upbest Group
Limited set out on pages 36 to 103, which comprise the consolidated
and company balance sheets as at 31st March, 2008, and the
consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
and the true and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. This
responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining internal
control relevant to the preparation and the true and fair presentation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting
policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the
circumstances.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audit and to report our opinion solely to you, as a body,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance as to whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditor’'s judgement, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the
entity’s preparation and true and fair presentation of the financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well
as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31st
March, 2008 and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
and have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Li,Tang, Chen & Co.

Certified Public Accountants (Practising)
10/F Sun Hung Kai Centre

30 Harbour Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

18th July, 2008
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Note —EENE —ZELF
(In HK$'000) (LGB TFrRElr) BiEE 2008 2007
Turnover BEE 8(a) 294,955 207,979
Cost of goods sold SHE AR (188,575) (106,996)
Other revenue Hplhas 186 661
Excess of net fair value of consolidation — WEEHIB A RIFELLR
arising from acquisition of a subsidiary NEFEZZ R 37 - 1,631
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEWE - W REHE
equipment FTEE 2% H - 94
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HEWNBRRIESE ZEF 38 12,000 -
Increase in fair value of investment BEWENTEZ N
properties 17 92,000 162,977
Net gain on financial assets at fair BATERNRERIERZ
value through profit or loss W EE—FE 346 1,057
Write-back of provision/(provision) RIEZRBERRD(BH)
for doubtful debts 316 (3,037)
Administrative and other operating TR EMLERS
expenses (34,164) (28,939)
Finance costs BE A 9 (9,815) (10,402)
Share of results of associates BIEHENR 2 £E 205 195
Profit before taxation BRI A& A 10 167,454 225,420
Income tax expense FTeBiF% 13(a) (11,365) (10,847)
Profit for the year F 1R F 156,089 214,573
Attributable to: IS RT) -
Equity holders of the Company ERARRSEFEA 156,101 213,603
Minority interests DYIRF R (12) 970
156,089 214,573
Dividends B 15 38,865 40,782
Earnings per share BROREM 12 HK cents HK cents
AL B
Basic BN 12.2 16.9
Diluted i3 N/ATIE A N/ATE A
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Proposed
Share Share Contributed  Retained final Minority
capital  premium  surplus profits  dividend Total interests Total
BRAS |
(In HK8'000) (W EEFTBEN) RE  RHEE BHERE REE RE & RRER @zt
Balance as at 1st April, 2006 AZEERE
MA—B&EH 12,531 230,304 8515 261,684 35,087 548,121 17,7118 565,839
Issue of shares ERG 213 28459 - - - 28672 - 28672
Profit for the year FERET - - - 213,608 - 213,608 - 213,603
Share of post-acquisition reserve  JEF BB & - - - - - - 970 970
Dividend paid BfiRE - - - - (35087)  (35087) S (35,087)
Proposed final dividend BRRERE - - - (40782 40,782 - - -
Balance as at i S 3
31st March, 2007 —A=t-REH 12,744 258,763 8,515 434,505 40,782 755,309 18,688 773,997
Issue of shares E1RB 211 28708 - - - 28919 - 28919
Profit for the year ERNET - - - 156,101 - 156,101 - 156,101
Share of post-acquisition reserve  JEFER R & - - - - - - (12) (12)
Dividend paid BRRE - - - - (40782)  (40,782) - (40782)
Proposed final dividend BRESRE - - - (38865 38,865 - - -
Balance as at e =)t
31st March, 2008 “A=t-RE&H 12,955 287471 551,741 38,865 899,547 18,676 918,223
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Note —EENE —ETLF
(In HK$'000) (LB FTREN) i 2008 2007
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - HERSRE 16 2,125 2,168
Investment properties BREME 17 442,000 350,000
Intangible assets BYEE 18 2,040 2,040
Interests in associates N kNI 20 65,298 66,791
Available-for-sale financial assets AL ERKEE 21 136 137
Loan receivables FEUE R 22 236 -
Trade and other receivables, deposits B 5 M EAM B EIE
and prepayments we RIEFNFIE 23 25,301 51,890
Other assets HihEE 24 5,226 6,716
542,362 479,742
CURRENT ASSETS MEBEE
Properties held for development HIERRERME 25 80,787 83,307
Inventories & 26 6,424 13,747
Loan receivables JEME R 22 163 128,999
Trade and other receivables, deposits 25 R A EWGE -
and prepayments e RN FIE 23 367,714 522,191
Amounts due from related companies JEUS BE N RIRIE 27 - 164
Financial assets at fair value BRATFERRER
through profit or loss PR B EE 28 18,598 68,172
Tax recoverable AU E R 3(m) 207 3,572
Bank balances and cash RITHEB RS 29 181,182 140,183
655,075 960,335
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Borrowings BN 30 81,712 476,746
Amounts due to related parties FEfTREE A T FUR 31 75,363 82,059
Creditors and accrued expenses e R R ER & 32 118,802 87,757
Provision for taxation MIsR A 13(b) 3,337 2,943
279,214 649,505
NET CURRENT ASSETS MEBEEFE 375,861 310,830
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EELERRBERE
LIABILITIES 918,223 790,572
NON-CURRENT LIABILITY FRBEE
Borrowings B3 30 - 16,575
NET ASSETS BEERE 918,223 773,997

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED
(X g H£MEARLA)
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(In HK$'000) (LOBBForBEN)
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BERRREE

Share capital (P&

Reserves &

Proposed final dividend BRI S

Equity attributable to equity holders KAREREFE ARG ER

of the Company

Minority interests DR E R
TOTAL EQUITY ERBH

The financial statements on pages 36 to 103 were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 18th July, 2008.

Cheng Kai Ming, Charles
A
Executive Director

HITEF

33 12,955 12,744
34 847,727 701,783
15 38,865 40,782
899,547 755,309

18,676 18,688

918,223 773,997

EBEIBE B REACEEZEEN -TT
NELA+NAEREESEERATIES
RERE-

Li Kwok Cheung, George
FER
Executive Director

HITEF
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Note —EENE —ZELF
(In HK$'000) (LOBBFrBEN) FisE 2008 2007
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Interest in subsidiaries RHB AR ZHE 19 346,228 318,778
CURRENT ASSETS mEEE
Prepayments IR 2 5
Bank balances and cash RITHEHREIRE 29 52 148
54 153
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Amount due to a director JERTE SR 31 7 7
Accrued expenses B EHR 32 603 627
610 634
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEEFE (556) (481)
NET ASSETS EEFE 345,672 318,297
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EAR#E
Share capital B 33 12,955 12,744
Reserves [ 34 293,852 264,771
Proposed final dividend FORAEBRE 38,865 40,782
345,672 318,297

The financial statements on pages 36 to 103 were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 18th July, 2008.

Cheng Kai Ming, Charles
5 G

Executive Director

HITEF

FIEIBEZHBRRCEEZEN_F
NELATNBHERRBEELEATIES

RERE -

Li Kwok Cheung, George

FEIH

Executive Director

PITEF

=
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Note —EENE ZETLEF
(In HK$'000) (LEBTTREN) it 2008 2007
Cash flows from operating activities REXBRER
Profit before taxation BRI A4 ) 167,454 225,420
Adjustments for: ER TS EELHE -
Interest expenses FEXH 9,815 10,402
Depreciation e 556 631
(Write-back of provision)/provision R (BERR) /BE
for doubtful debts (316) 3,037
Bad debts written off R 1,776 -
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, HEME  BEREHZ
plant and equipment BE/ (Kas) 40 (94)
Excess of net fair value
of consolidation arising Wil B ARIFTEE
from acquisition of a subsidiary GeERTFELH AN 37 - (1,631)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HENBARMEE ZEF 38 (12,000) -
Increase in fair value of investment properties ~ RE&#EAF(E 2151 (92,000) (162,977)
Share of results of associates [ =N P (205) (195)
Operating profit before working Rt EBESEER
capital changes RERR 75,120 74,593
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FEZRL/(Em) 7,323 (13,747)
Decrease/(increase) in trade EHREMBEKTIE  Re Kk
and other receivables, BRFEZRL,/ (3Em)
deposits and prepayments 153,017 (41,457)
Decrease/(increase) in loan receivables EWEFZRL,/(Em) 128,836 (1,000)
Increase in trust and segregated EREREMAREERPET
accounts included in bank balances (BERBITER) 2EM (21,953) (3,382)
Decrease in amounts due from [ENEEARFE D
related companies 164 5,078
Decrease/(increase) in amounts JEEE NRIRIBL
due from associates md/ (Em) 1,699 (34,922)
Decrease in amounts due to related parties BERBEALTAEIRD (6,696) (29,574)
Increase/(decrease) in creditors EREFRENERZ
and accrued expenses i/ Cid) 31,045 (55,597)
Cash generated from/(used in) operations =~ EL¥XEL/ (ER)2RE 368,555 (100,008)
Interest paid ERFE (9,815) (10,402)
Hong Kong profits tax paid BEREBFIEH (7,606) (16,889)
Net cash generated from/(used in) Te¥REL/(ER)
operating activities ZREFE 351,134 (127,299)

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED
(X H£HAFRLA)
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For the year ended 31st March, 2008 #& £ ~ &% )\4E=H =1+ — H IL4EE
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Note —EENE ZETLEF

(In HK$'000) (LGB TFrRElr) BiEE 2008 2007
Cash flows from investing activities RETH2HLR
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEME  BEREB (654) (993)
Purchase of investment properties BERENE = (23)
Purchase of properties held for development ~ BEH{FRENE (1,320) (307)
Proceeds from disposal of property held HERFERNEMGNE

for development 3,840 -
Acquisition of a subsidiary e BE B /8 8 7] (F0BR AT U 2

(net of cash and cash equivalents acquired) ~ ¥H&RELZSEN) 37 - 191
Purchase of available-for-sale financial assets ~BEAHHENKEE = (136)
Increase in investment in associates REREE DA ZE = (11,193)
Purchase of financial assets at fair BEELTE

value through profit or loss BRI HEEE 49,574 (68,172)
Increase in pledged bank deposits BERRIERZEM (512) (4,695)
Proceeds from disposal of a subsidiary HERBARZFHERE 38 12,000 -
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME  BERSHE

plant and equipment SR 101 250
Decrease in trade and other receivables, EHREMBEKTER ke k

deposits and prepayments BRNRBZRL 26,589 23,383
Increase in loan receivables BN E R 2380 (236) -
Decrease in other assets HtWEEZRD 1,490 72
Net cash generated from/(used in) RETBEL/

investing activities (ER) 2B& 58 90,872 (61,623)
Cash flows from financing activities METHZ2RER
Dividend paid ERRE (40,782) (35,087)
Net proceeds from issue of shares BTG 2B RUR TR 28,919 28,672
New borrowings raised FIEER 29,810 199,270
Repayment of borrowings BERER (362,370) (13,700)
Net cash (used in)/generated from BETH (BR) EL

financing activities ZEEFH (344,423) 179,155
Net increase/(decrease) in cash ReRBEvEEBM2EM,/ (BD) 97,583 (9,767)

and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning FABERBEEEEY

of the year (73,502) (63,735)
Cash and cash equivalents at the

end of the year FRZEERBREZEEN 24,081 (73,502)
Analysis of the balance of cash and ReRRE2EBMEGRZAM

cash equivalents
Cash in hand and general accounts included & &k—fRIET P D48

in bank balances 75,983 57,449
Bank overdrafts, secured BITEY - BER (51,902) (130,931)
Bank overdrafts, unsecured BITEY - BER = (20)

24,081 (73,502)

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED
(X g H£MEARLA)
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M OB O® R KB

For the year ended 31st March, 2008 #& £ 2% )\4E=H =+— H L4 i

General

The Company is a public limited company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands with its shares listed on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The address of
its registered office is Ugland House, South Church Street, P.O.
Box 309, George Town, Grand Cayman, Cayman lIslands, British
West Indies. The principal place of business is 2nd Floor, Wah Kit
Commercial Centre, 302 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong.

As at the date of this report, CCAA Group Limited held direct
interests in 930,475,657 shares, representing approximately
71.82%, of the issued share capital of the Company.

The Company is principally engaged in investment holding. Its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the provision of a wide
range of financial services including securities broking, futures
broking, securities margin financing, money lending, corporate
finance advisory, assets management, precious metal trading and
also property investment.

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the same as the functional currency of the Company.

Application of new and revised Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)

In the current year, the Group has applied, for the first time, the
following new standard, amendment and interpretations (“new
HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”), which are effective for the Group’s
financial year beginning 1st April, 2007.

HKAS 1 (Amendment) Capital Disclosures

HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures

HK(IFRIC) - Int 7 Applying the Restatement Approach under HKAS

29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies

HK(IFRIC) - Int 8 Scope of HKFRS 2

HK(IFRIC) — Int 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives

B
ARADRRAEHSTAMULAERELZ
RBRF EROREBHATIMAR
NE) ([BEAPT]) £ o A ARz st i ik
AUgland House, South Church Street,
P.O. Box 309, George Town, Grand
Cayman, Cayman Islands, British West
Indies s HF 2L EMEUN BB IEHE
FR02SFERBE R P L2

RARREFTH 2 B » CCAA Group Limited
B A AR R F930,475,657 B 10 - 49
IEARREIEEITIRAN271.82% °

ARAMEIBEHRREER  ANER
ACEIREBARREZEESRRY
BERBFEL HELR HFRBE &
HEE CEBMEER LEER ES
BEERMERE -

)

BMBRENB T2 HAQT 24
1 -

\

ERHREETNE B K REER
(BB BREED])

RAFE SEEREAUTHEESH
MAgEMEOEER BT RZRE (5
[(HEAVBRSEL])  ZEHEEY
IR EERIN2007F4 1B AR FBH
SEEMEY -

BT EUEIR (KB EARE
EEMBHREENETRMBIA : RE
FE(ARMBRESENREZRES) -2
BE7TRREFE QI EAE2R(BILA

ERREEM RS I RBEIDA

EE(ARMBHREENRBRZES) -2
BESREBMBERELRFR 2 HE

EE(ARMBHREENRBZES) -2
BESREMFERANTETA

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED
(X H£HAFRLA)
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Application of new and revised Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)
HK(IFRIC) — Int 10 Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment

HK(IFRIC) - Int 11 Group and Treasury Share Transactions

The adoption of the new HKFRSs had no material effect on how
the results and financial position for the current or prior accounting
years have been prepared. Accordingly, no prior year adjustment
has been required.

The Group has applied the disclosure requirements under HKAS
1 (Amendment) and HKFRS 7 respectively. Certain information
presented in prior year under the requirements of HKAS 32 has
been revised and the relevant comparative information based on
the requirements of HKAS 1 (Amendment) and HKFRS 7 has been
presented for the first time in the current year.

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised
standards or interpretations that have been issued but are not yet
effective.

HKAS 1 (Revised) Presentation of Financial Statements'

HKAS 23 (Revised) Borrowing Costs'
HKFRS 8 Operating Segments’
HK(IFRIC) — Int 12 Service Concession Arrangements?

HK(IFRIC) — Int 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes?®

HK(IFRIC) — Int 14 HKAS 19 — The Limit on a Defined Benefit
Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction?

' Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2009
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2008
8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st July, 2008

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of
these new and revised standards or interpretations will have no
material impact on the results and the financial position of the
Group.

RRAFREBITNEBUBREER
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EE(ARMBREENRBZES) -2
B0 HMH B HE KRE

EE(ARMBRELANRBRES) -2
BEENREEARHERNR S

RSN EEMB RS ENHENIRE
DIARE RAE & &R R BN
BEATE AU FHARELREER

o

AEECABEREE G ENEIH (K
BR) RBEUBREENETRZBER
EoRAFE UEFERBERLGHE
RIS e MEMBIZETEMEKE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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M OB O® R KB

For the year ended 31st March, 2008 # £ =% % )\E=H =+ —H L4

3. Summary of significant accounting policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements are set out below. These
policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented.

(a) Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
which collective term includes all applicable individual Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards ("“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. The financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention except that the
investment properties, available-for-sale financial assets and
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are stated
at fair value.

b) Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the
year are included in the consolidated income statement from
the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of
disposal, as appropriate.

All significant intercompany transactions and balances within
the Group have been eliminated on consolidation.

c) Goodwill
Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary or an
associate represents the excess of the cost of acquisition
over the interest in the fair value of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities of the relevant subsidiary
or associate at the date of acquisition. Such goodwill is
carried at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

Capitalised goodwill arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary
is presented separately in the balance sheet. Capitalised
goodwill arising on an acquisition of an associate (which is
accounted for using the equity method) is included in the
cost of the investment of the relevant associate.

BEREHHEBE
AT RREAREREAENZETEES
BR - BBEMRFEAENE -

(a) WHEEE
RMBEHRRIRREBER B REER
((BEHMBREER]) (BEEES
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ZITBER S BN BHREEN
ERGFEA (BB ER]) K
2 ((RR)) 258 REE(AF
BB B - AU BHRERHIRBESE
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HHEZMBEEREAFER RS
FINRZMBEER A FEFEME
HEET -

b) HEEE
BEMBHRREFBAARARS
A2 BERE -

é
B
o

FRAEBRLEMBARCKXEDE
RERABERAHRBERERE
ARG EREAMER (WERE) °

FESBERRIRZIER S R
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R BBEE NRRAR MR
BEBEYE-

i

BREMEBARELEZEMCAELIR
BEAGBRADHIEK - WE—Hi
ERRELZEE (ABFEDAT

) HBERZ 5%%’&72?xéfﬁﬁz$°

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED
(X H£HAFRLA)

45



46
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M OB O® R KB

For the year ended 31st March, 2008 #& £ —FZ /)\4E=H =1+—H IL4EE

3. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

c)

Goodwill (Continued)

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill arising from
an acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the acquisition. A
cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment annually, and whenever there is an
indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising
on an acquisition in a financial year, the cash-generating unit
to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that financial year. When the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying
amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit
first, and then to the other assets of the unit pro rata on the
basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any
impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in the
income statement. An impairment loss for goodwill is not
reversed in subsequent periods.

On subsequent disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable
amount of goodwill capitalised is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.

Excess of an acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of an
acquirer’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities over cost (“discount on acquisitions”)

A discount on acquisition arising on an acquisition of a
subsidiary for which an agreement date is on or after st
January, 2005 represents the excess of the net fair value of
an acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities over the cost of the business combination. Discount
on acquisition is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
A discount on acquisition arising on an acquisition of an
associate or a jointly controlled entity is included as income
in the determination of the investor’s share of results of the
associate or jointly controlled entity in the period in which the
investment is acquired.

ANNUAL REPORT 2008 4 #
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For the year ended 31st March, 2008 # £ =% % )\E=H =+ —H L4

3. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

d)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable
costs of bringing the assets to working condition and
location for its intended use. Expenditure incurred after
items of property, plant and equipment have been put into
operation, such as repairs and maintenance and overhaul
cost, is normally charged to the income statement in the
period in which it is incurred. In situations where it can be
clearly demonstrated that the expenditure has resulted in
an increase in the future economic benefits expected to
be obtained from the use of an item of property, plant and
equipment, the expenditure is capitalised as an additional
cost of the asset.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost or fair value of
items of property, plant and equipment over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line method, at the following
rates per annum:

Leasehold land and buildings

METHRET AT R R
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 15% - 30%
BE - KENRE 15% - 30%
Motor vehicles 15% - 30%
nE 15% - 30%

The land and buildings elements of a lease of land and
buildings are considered separately for the purposes of lease
classification, unless the lease payments cannot be allocated
reliably between the land and buildings elements, in which
case, the entire lease is generally treated as a finance lease.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the item) is included in the income
statement in the year in which the item is derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M OB O® R KB

For the year ended 31st March, 2008 #& £ —FZ /)\4E=H =1+—H IL4EE

3. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

e)

f)

9)

Investment properties
On initial recognition, investment properties are measured
at cost, including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are
measured using the fair value model. Gains or losses arising
from changes in the fair value of investment property are
included in the profit or loss for the period in which they

arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn from
use or no future economic benefits are expected from its
disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included
in the income statement in the year in which the item is
derecognised.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including special purpose
entities) over which the Group has the power to govern the
financial and operating policies generally accompanying
a shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights.
The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are
currently exercisable or convertible are considered when
assessing whether the Group controls another entity.

Investments in subsidiaries are included in the Company’s
balance sheet at cost less any impairment loss. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis
of dividends received and receivable.

Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a
joint venture. Significant influence is the power to participate
in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee
but is not control or joint control over those policies.

ANNUAL REPORT 2008 4 #
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For the year ended 31st March, 2008 # £ =% % )\E=H =+ —H L4

3. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

9)

h)

Associates (Continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in the financial statements using the equity
method of accounting less any identified impairment loss.
Under the equity method, investments in associates are
carried in the consolidated balance sheet at cost as adjusted
for post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of the net
assets of the associate, less any impairment in the value of
individual investments. When the Group’s share of losses in
an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate,
including any other unsecured receivables, the Group
does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred
obligations or made payment on behalf of the associate.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share
of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities of the associate recognised at the
date of acquisition is recognised as goodwill. The goodwill
is included within the carrying amount of the investment
and is assessed for impairment as part of the investment.
Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over
the cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in the income statement.

When a Group entity transacts with an associate of the
Group, profits and losses are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s interest in the relevant associate.

Intangible assets

On initial recognition, intangible assets acquired are
recognised at cost. After initial recognition, intangible assets
with finite useful lives are carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is
provided on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful
lives. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are carried
at cost less any subsequent accumulated impairment. Gains
or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset
are measured at the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are
recognised in the income statement when the asset is
derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M OB O® R KB

For the year ended 31st March, 2008 #& % — 2% )\4E=H =+ — H IL4EJE

3. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

h)

Intangible assets (Continued)

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for
impairment annually by comparing their carrying amounts
with their recoverable amounts, irrespective of whether there
is any indication that they may be impaired. If the recoverable
amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an
expense immediately.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of
its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset in prior years.

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are tested for
impairment when there is an indication that an asset may be
impaired.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost includes cost of purchase computed using the
first-in-first-out method. Net realisable value is determined
by reference to the sales proceeds of items sold in the
ordinary course of business after the balance sheet date
or to management estimates based on prevailing market
conditions.
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)
Investments

)]

The Group classifies its investments in the following

categories: trade and other receivables, available-for-sale

financial assets, financial assets at fair value through profit

or loss and loan receivables. The classification depends

on the purpose for which the investments were acquired.

Management determines the classification of its investments

at initial recognition and re-evaluates this designation at

every reporting date.

i)

i)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or l0ss:

At each balance sheet date subsequent to initial
recognition, financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss are measured at fair value, with changes in
fair value recognised directly in income statement in
the period in which they arise. All derivatives financial
assets are also categorised as financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss unless they are designated
as hedges.

Trade and other receivables:

Trade and other receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market. At each balance sheet
date subsequent to initial recognition, trade and other
receivables are carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less any identified impairment
losses. An impairment loss is recognised in the income
statement when there is objective evidence that the
asset is impaired, and is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at
the original effective interest rate. Impairment losses are
reversed in subsequent periods when an increase in the
asset’s recoverable amount can be related objectively to
an event occurring after the impairment was recognised,
subject to a restriction that the carrying amount of the
asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not
exceed what the amortised cost would have been had
the impairment not been recognised.
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued) 3. EXSTHHEBE#E
i) Investments (Continued) ) BE#E)
iii)  Available-for-sale financial assets: i) AEHEYHEEE

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives
that are either designated or not classified as any of
the other categories (set out above). At each balance
sheet date subsequent to initial recognition, available-
for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value.
Changes in fair value are recognised in equity, until
the financial asset is disposed of or is determined to
be impaired, at which time, the cumulative gain or
loss previously recognised in equity is removed from
equity and recognised in the income statement. If
any objective evidence exists for available-for-sale
financial assets, the cumulative loss measured as the
difference between the acquisition cost and the current
fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial
assets previously recognised in the income statement
is removed from equity and recognised in the income
statement. Impairment losses on available-for-sale
equity investments shall not reverse through the income
statement.

For available-for-sale equity investments that do not
have a quoted market price in an active market and
whose fair value cannot be reliably measured, they
are measured at cost less any identified impairment
losses at each balance sheet date subsequent to initial
recognition. An impairment loss is recognised in the
income statement when there is objective evidence that
the asset is impaired. The amount of the impairment
loss is measured as the difference between the carrying
amount of the asset and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the current
market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such
impairment losses shall not reverse in subsequent
periods.

AHHENBEERFITER
B EwsfasnEMER
(BRLEX) -ROFBERRZ
BE&ER AHRLEMKE
ERRVEFE A¥EZE
IREZAER EEXZHH
BERLESRERE  ER
BENESNBRZZBEA
AEBEEEARENGER LR
REXER - HEABEEEH
AHEMBEELRLETR
RIEREEER (MBRARRT
AFEZEE BEZAMHE
EMBEE AN RS R
R EMRERE) EEDEAS
o YR ERPHER NI
HRTFHEAZAHELEREDR
EREBBRR TSR KERT
&m e

BAHHECRAEEREM
Y ERETIG T ER
B MEAFERESENE
RIATH B E 2 BAERRER
BRERR BEEERRK
B AR 2 3 BIR E B B
- HAREBEREERE
AR E B ER KSR AR -
REERIEBREERTER
REUMBEELRITMSE
BEFRGEAARARRERELZ
RERZERFE - ZERE
BRAGRERBREED -

ot



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ANNUAL REPORT 2008 4 #

M OB O® R KB

For the year ended 31st March, 2008 # £ =% % )\E=H =+ —H L4

3. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

)]

k)

Investments (Continued)

iv)  Loan receivables:
Loan receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market, including placements with banks and
other financial institutions, investment debt securities
without an active market and loans and advances to
customers. Loan receivables are carried at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

Properties held for development

Properties held for development are stated at the lower
of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is
determined by reference to sale proceeds received after the
balance sheet date less selling expenses, or by management
estimates based on prevailing market conditions.

Costs of properties include acquisition costs, development
expenditure, interest and other direct costs attributable
to such properties. The carrying values of properties held
by subsidiaries are adjusted in the consolidated financial
statements to reflect the Group’s actual acquisition costs
where appropriate.

Impairment of assets

At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its assets to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss.
If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less
than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset
is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised as an expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised as income immediately.
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued) 3. EXRSTHHERBE &)
m) Taxation m) I

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the
income statement because it excludes items of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it
further excludes items that are never taxable and deductible.
The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
balance sheet date.

Tax recoverable represent the excess of provisional profits
tax paid over the estimated tax liability.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in
the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using
the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)
m) Taxation (Continued)

n)

0)

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the
asset realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited to the
income statement, except when it relates to items charged or
credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is
also dealt with in equity.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to
the cost of these assets until such times as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is
deducted from the borrowing cost eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in income statement
in the period in which they are incurred.

Foreign currency translation

i) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (“the functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company’s functional and presentation
currency.

i) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the
income statement.
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued) 3. EXRSTHHERBE &)
o) Foreign currency translation (Continued) o) INEBRE (&)
iii)  Group companies i) EE A
The results and financial position of all the Group’s REEBETHERARZESE
entities that have a functional currency different from AL AR R R G 2L
the presentation currency are translated into the REBMAARMTH LR
presentation currency as follows: RIREE
a) assets and liabilities for each balance sheet a) BEEABXRMIICEE
presented are translated at the closing rate at the MEBREZER 2™
date of that balance sheet; EXRE
b) income and expenses for each income statement b) ‘WK 2 WL EF
are translated at average exchange rates (unless HEXBE  KRIELFH
this average is not a reasonable approximation EEXANRUEEMBER
of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing MZXSGEHEREXZ R
on the transaction dates, in which case income ERE TRHBRAT K
and expenses are translated at the dates of the FTHIEX BB EXS
transactions); and 2K
c) all resulting exchange differences are recognised c) —YHELEMESCERE
as a separate component of equity. HYBRAER . —EE

SARER D AR o

p) Financial guarantees issued, provision and contingencies p) FTEHMBEER BERIAR
i) Financial guarantees issued ) TELAYBER

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the B BERDEREITA BER
issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to make specified payments to NBERZEATHEEADE
reimburse the beneficiary of the guarantee (the “holder”) BETEEAREREEETLA
for a loss the holder incurs because a specified debtor MEZNHEENImESHY
fails to make payment when due in accordance with the B -MAFEAINEER
terms of a debt instrument. EHEH -
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)
p) Financial guarantees issued, provision and contingencies
(Continued)

i)

i)

Financial guarantees issued (Continued)

Where the Group issues a financial guarantee, the
fair value of the guarantee (being the transaction
price, unless the fair value can otherwise be reliably
estimated) is initially recognised as deferred income
within trade and other payables. Where consideration is
received or receivable for the issuance of the guarantee,
the consideration is recognised in accordance with the
Group’s policies applicable to that category of asset.
Where no such consideration is received or receivable,
an immediate expense is recognised in profit or loss on
initial recognition of any deferred income.

The amount of the guarantee initially recognised as
deferred income is amortised in profit or loss over
the term of the guarantee as income from financial
guarantees issued. In addition, provisions are
recognised in accordance with note 2(p)(ii) if and when
(i) it becomes probable that the holder of the guarantee
will call upon the Group under the guarantee, and (ii)
the amount of that claim on the Group is expected to
exceed the amount currently carried in trade and other
payables in respect of that guarantee i.e. the amount

initially recognised, less accumulated amortisation.

Provisions and contingencies

A provision is recognised when there is a present
obligation, legal or constructive, as a result of a past
event and it is probable that an outflow of resources
embodying economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of
the amount of the obligation. Provisions are reviewed
regularly and adjusted to reflect the current best
estimate. Where the effect of the time value of money is
material, the amount of a provision is the present value
of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation.
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial guarantees issued, provision and contingencies
(Continued)

p)

Q)

i)

Provisions and contingencies (Continued)

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises
from past events and whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one
or more uncertain future events not wholly within the
control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation
arising from past events that is not recognised because
it is not probable that outflow of economic resources
will be required or the amount of obligation cannot be
measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed
in the note on the financial statements. When a change
in the probability of an outflow occurs so the outflow is
probable, it will then be recognised as a provision.

Revenue recognition

i)

i)

Commission and brokerage income, placement and
underwriting commission, management and handling
fees, corporate finance advisory fees and investment
management fee are recognised when the services
are rendered, the amount for which can be reliably

estimated and it is probable that they will be received.

Interest income is accrued, on a time proportion basis
by reference to the principal outstanding and at the
effective rate applicable.

Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis
over the period of the respective leases.

Sale of precious metal is recognised, when the
significant risks and rewards of ownership have been
transferred to the buyer, provided that the Group
maintains neither managerial involvement to the degree
usually associated with ownership; nor effective control
over the goods sold.

3. EXZ
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

r)

s)

t)

u)

Operating lease

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards
of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified
as operating leases. Receipts or payments made under
operating leases (net of any incentives received from the
lessor) are credited or expensed in the income statement on
a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

Related parties

For the purposes of these financial statements, parties are
considered to be related to the Group if the Group has the
ability, directly or indirectly, to control the party or exercise
significant influence over the party in making financial and
operating decisions, or vice versa, or where the Group
and the party are subject to common control or common
significant influence. Related parties may be individuals
(being members of key management personnel, significant
shareholders and/or their close family members) or other
entities and include entities which are under the significant
influence of related parties of the Group where those parties
are individuals.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments
which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
and have a short maturity of generally within three months
when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable
on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management.

Segment reporting

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that
is engaged either in providing products or services (business
segment), or in providing products or services within a
particular economic environment (geographical segment),
which is subject to risks and rewards that are different from
those of other segments.

3. EXRSHHBERME (&)
r) i(«***ﬁ

s)

)

u)

WEERBEZBAEMDERRE
RNBHBAME AREBEERI A
ReHE - RELEHEFELZEWA
AR R EBEAL T 2 EFER)
BHEBNERZEZN KR ERABA
HHX

BBAL
REEMBREME WAL
EELMBREERTHERRMEE

BHR— TSR HITREARE
N RELTRBERRE  Rfd A%
BRI AREHREARERY
Z THREIERRE -BEALAN
REAANBITZEERBAE EERR
R/IBREREKRE) REMER

BREAEEBEAL (RFHREAL

BENATFERZE N ER -
ReRkBEzEEY
HEERERBpERME  He ke

ZEBYMOETFRER e REMER
AERBABE-—RE=EAARR TR
RuERERAEASEReABE
EPRBR O CEHSERY LR
B -ORARERERVEKNREER
SEBZERSOIRITES -

AEHE
HBRESEBETUHEES LA
BERRERIBE (XB2B)

REREZRERETREERIR
BOnE ) 2 @RS - BEDF
Pz B NP EE 2 B - 158
Htb D EA 5 -

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED
(X H£HAFRLA)

59



60

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
M o H® R K A

For the year ended 31st March, 2008 #& % —FZ /)\4E=H =1+—H IL4EE

3. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

u)

v)

Segment reporting (Continued)

In accordance with the Group’s internal financial reporting the
Group has determined that business segments be presented
as the primary reporting format and geographical segments
as the secondary reporting format.

Segment revenue, expenses, results, assets and liabilities
include items directly attributable to a segment as well
as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis to
that segment. For example, segment assets may include
broking, financing, corporate finance, assets management,
precious metal trading, property investment and investment
holding. Segment revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities
are determined before intra-group balances and intra-group
transactions are eliminated as part of the consolidation
process, except to the extent that such intra-group balances
and transactions are between Group enterprises within a
single segment. Inter-segment pricing is based on similar
terms as those available to other external parties.

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during
the period to acquire segment assets that are expected to be
used for more than one period.

In respect of geographical segment reporting, turnover is
based on the country of operations. Total assets and capital
expenditure are where the assets are located.

Employees benefits

Pension obligations

The Group operates a defined contribution mandatory
provident fund scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) which is
available to all employees. Contributions to the MPF Scheme
by the Group and its employees are calculated at 5% of the
employees’ basic salaries with a maximum cap of HK$1,000
per month. The Group’s contributions to the fund are
expensed as incurred and the assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administrated fund.

Payments to the Group’s MPF Scheme are charged as
expenses as they fall due.
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Critical accounting estimates and judgments

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. The Group did not use any critical accounting
estimates in the preparation of the financial statements.

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgments, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Impairment of available-for-sale financial assets

For available-for-sale financial assets, a significant or prolonged
decline in fair value below cost is considered to be objective
evidence of impairment. Judgment is required when determining
whether a decline in fair value has been significant and/or
prolonged. In making this judgment, the historical data on market
volatility as well as the price of the specific investment are taken
into account. The Group also takes into account other factors,
such as industry and sector performance and financial information
regarding the issuer/investee.

Capital risk management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the Group will be
able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return
to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from
prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity reserves
attributable to equity holders of the Company, comprising mainly
issued share capital, other reserves and retained profits.

Certain subsidiaries of the Group are regulated by the Securities
and Futures Commission (the “SFC”) and are required to comply
with certain minimum capital requirements according to the rules
of the SFC.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a
semi-annual basis. As part of this review, the directors of the
Company consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with
each class of capital. Based on recommendations of the directors,
the Group will balance its overall capital structure through the
payment of dividends and new share issues.
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Financial instruments by category 6. MBEIESE
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial REERSEVMBEIAZEAENT

instruments as at balance sheet date are as follows:

2008 ZZEEN
The Group KE
Financial assets BBERE
Financial
assets at fair Available-for-
value through Loans and  sale financial
profit or loss receivables assets Total
BOFER
WK e
(In HK$'000) (WEE T RE) BBERE  BRREUX BBERE @t
Available-for-sale financial A HERBEE
assets - - 136 136
Loan receivables FEWE SR - 399 - 399
Trade and other receivables, B 5 KA EUHIE -
deposits and prepayments ReRBIHE - 393,015 - 393,015
Amounts due from associates il NCIE§E] - 53,456 - 53,456
Other assets HEthEE - 5,226 - 5,226
Financial assets at fair value BRATFER &R
through profit or loss HBEE 18,598 - - 18,598
Bank balances and cash RITEH RS - 181,182 - 181,182
18,598 633,278 136 652,012
Financial liabilities BaE
Financial liabilities
at amortised cost
(In HK$'000) (LOBEFLBEl) B 5 B E R R AR
Borrowings B 81,712
Amounts due to related parties [EfTEE AL RIA 75,363
Creditors and accrued expenses ERERRENER 118,802

275,877
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6. Financial instruments by category (Continued)
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6. MEIESB(E)

2007 —mE
The Group REHF
Financial assets BBEE
Financial
assets at fair Available-for-
value through Loans and  sale financial
profit or loss receivables assets Total
BOFER
BERRIIEZ AREE
(In HK$'000) (WEEFTAEN) HKEE  BRREKR HREE @t
Available-for-sale financial AHRHENBEE
assets - - 137 137
Loan receivables ERER - 128,999 - 128,999
Trade and other receivables, 5 REMEKFR -
deposits and prepayments e RBAHE - 574,081 - 574,081
Amounts due from associates JEU & N EIFUR - 55,155 - 55,155
Other assets EwEE - 6,716 - 6,716
Amounts due from JEMREE A AR
related companies - 164 - 164
Financial assets at fair value BRRATFERAERTIR
through profit or loss LHBEE 68,172 - - 68,172
Bank balances and cash BIEBRERS - 140,183 - 140,183
68,172 905,298 137 973,607
Financial liabilities BgaE
Financial liabilities
at amortised cost
(In HK$'000) (LB F i BElT) B SR prre: §olo RN
Borrowings & 493,321
Amounts due to related parties JENEEA LA 82,059
Creditors and accrued expenses ERNRRARENER 87,757
663,137
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7. Financial risk management objectives and policies

a)

Financial risk factors

The Group’s major financial instruments comprise amounts
due from associates, available-for-sale financial assets, loan
receivables, trade and other receivables, financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss, other assets, cash and bank
balances, borrowings, amounts due to related parties and
creditors and accrued expenses.

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk, interest
rate risk and foreign currency risk. The Group’s overall risk
management programme focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse
effects on the Group’s financial performance.

i) Market price risk

The Group is exposed to financial instruments for
trading of precious metals which are classified in the
consolidated balance sheet as financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss. These are susceptible to
market price risk arising from uncertainties about the
future prices of the instruments. The Group’s market
price risk is managed through diversification of the
investment portfolio ratios by exposures.

ANNUAL REPORT 2008 4 #

BRRAREEEEREIR

a)

BHERREE

AEBZIEMBTAGREELRES
ARFE AHLENBEE  BK
BN BHREMEYHIE BAT
ERBERIIEZHBEE EHE
B ReERBOTEH BN ENE
EALHE BRERLENER -

ARBEBEYZEIRAL A M H
Rl mERR FERR RBE
TRk - FEEREINERR - A%
BeERRAREEFIFTINERT
GERAENZEN  URSREER
DEAREE B BRI REKZ N

=787
g2

) mEREE
AEERAECECBEENK
IR DRGEEEABERN
PBEREATFERRERIIE
LHBEE-ZETARSHRK
AmSERERATE &
FRBABREZETIAZR
REBREBRs THRERERME
B RKEBZTIGEERRTY
BRREARHECREEGT
TS TILER -




ANNUAL REPORT 2008 4 #

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

7. Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)
a) Financial risk factors (Continued)

i)

ii)

fii)

M OB O® R KB

For the year ended 31st March, 2008 # £ %% )E=H =+ —H L4

7 HEEBEEBERBK(E)

a) HMEEBREZE)

Market price risk (Continued) ) TEERE(E)
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every TRITAEBERB AT &
1% change in the fair values of the derivative financial AEBREZETETHKITARK
instruments, with all other variables held constant and HRNGEERRABE A TFE—
before any impact on tax, based on their carrying EE HEEEOGRAL A
amounts at the balance sheet date. HEHRETE -
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) in Increase/
(decrease) profit before (decrease)
in fair value taxation in equity
DNEEEZ KRB ADER 2 BRz
#i,/ 0BL)  #Em OB EmS G
% HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
2008 ZZEEN
- Financial assets at -BRAVEE
fair value through PR SR 1 186 153
profit or loss ZHUBEE (M (186) (153)
2007 —EZL
- Financial assets at -BRATEE
fair value through N el 1 682 563
profit or loss ZUBEE (1) (682) (563)
Credit risk i) EEEE
The Group takes on exposure to credit risk, which is the AEEEH EERRNR S
risk that a counterparty will be unable to pay amounts HFIBELZH AR
in full when due. Impairment provisions are provided for NpBEzERE REEHEE
losses that have been incurred by the balance sheet EZER(NE) HRERELE
date, if any. The Group is responsible for monitoring the BoAKEEEEENEME
amount of credit exposure to any financial institution. BREEERR
Liquidity risk i) REELER

The Group invests in unlisted securities which are
designated as available-for-sale financial assets. Those
unlisted securities may not be traded in an organised
public market and may be illiquid. As a result, the Group
may not be able to liquidate quickly its investments
in these instruments at an amount close to their fair
value in order to meet its liquidity requirements or to
respond to specific events such as deterioration in
the creditworthiness of any particular issuer. Prudent
liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient
cash and marketable securities, the availability of
funding through an adequate amount of credit facilities
and the ability to close out market positions.
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7. Financial risk management objectives and policies 7 BERBEEREEREE(£)
(Continued)
a) Financial risk factors (Continued) a) HERBEZE)
iii)  Liquidity risk (Continued) i) HEEZEE(E)
The following table details the Group’s remaining TRAMRSIAEEHB T ELT
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. For ETEMBARZEHNERS -
non-derivative financial liabilities, the table has been THRBZREEEBIETTE
drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of the MHREEZARBBANE RS
financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which NWAEBEREERRE 2HH -
the Group can be required to pay. The table includes T XRBEBEASEFE Y
both interest and principal cash flows. BERE -
Weighted
average Carrying
effective ~ Repayable Less than 3months  amount at
interest rate  on demand 1month  1-3 months to1year  31st March
ETH R=B=1+-A
(In HK$'000) (BB FrAEl) ERFZE  BANEE  OWR-BR -2=@F Z=fAZ-% REE
%
2008
Non-derivative financial FETIR
liabilities HHaE
Borrowings &% 4.4 70,712 11,000 - - 81,712
Amounts due to related ERBEAT
parties FE - 75,363 - - - 75,363
Creditors and accrued ERERR
expenses ERER - 118,802 - - - 118,802
264,877 11,000 - - 275,877
Weighted
average Carrying
effective  Repayable  Less than 3months ~ More than  amount at
interest rate on demand 1month  1-3 months to 1year 1year  31st March
METH SR -z =faA ZA=+-H
(In HK$'000) (LERTTAEN) BEEFE  BARREE —f8A =f@A - BRF REE
%
2007
Non-derivative financial FETIR
liabilities g 3=V
Borrowings &% 5.0 330,221 - 3,368 143,157 16,575 493,321
Amounts due to related ERBEEATL
parties B - 82,059 - - - - 82,059
Creditors and accrued ERERR
expenses ERER - 87,757 - - - - 87,757
500,037 - 3,368 143,157 16,575 663,137

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED
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7. Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)
a) Financial risk factors (Continued)

iv)

v)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s borrowings from banks during the year are
for the provision of financing and loans to customers.
The majority of the bank borrowings bear interest at
interest rates with reference to the HIBOR whereas
loans to customers bear interest at interest rates with
reference to the prime rate. As the prime rate in Hong
Kong basically changes in line with the HIBOR, the
Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates is minimal.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a
reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all
other variables held constant, the Group’s profit before
tax (through the impact on floating rate borrowings,

7 HEEBEEBERBK(E)

a) MBEBREE#E)

iv)

VIR

AEBRNFEAZRITESRS
ERHEBENERTEP - K
#h7) ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂgﬂwﬁﬁﬂ
EREMERTEFPME
ﬁ@%ﬂ%°$mﬁ@%ﬂ%
EXRFEFTRRFEED —
B ARERHTISNEED
BB & o

UH

Ti‘«%’i‘J/T$’$ B B ¢ A g ) (A8

BEEBMEEK G EEKE
P BEFRRBR) RAKE#R

HMESBEREE MR

interest-bearing accounts receivables, loans and MEMESEIRFAE -
advances) and the Group’s equity.
Group increase/
Increase/ (decrease) Increase/
(decrease) in in profit (decrease)
basis points before taxation in equity
HEHZ MRELANR R 2 BEz
(In HK$'000) (WEEFTAENL) #m,/ Ofd) #m,/ CHd) 2m,/ Of)
2008
Hong Kong dollars /7T 50 1,653 1,363
Hong Kong dollars &7t (50) (1,653) (1,363)
2007
Hong Kong dollars & 7T 50 1,581 1,304
Hong Kong dollars /7T (50) (1,581) (1,304)
Foreign currency risk v) SMEE

The Group hold assets denominated in currencies other
than the Hong Kong dollars, the functional currency. The
Group is therefore exposed to foreign currency risk, as
the value of the assets denominated in other currencies
will fluctuate due to the changes in exchange rates.

AEERARET (NEEH) N
NEBIEZEE - ARNUE
twEBIEcEEZEBERE
EXEHMERKY  A&HE
FitmH ¥ ER -
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7. Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

b)

Fair value estimation:

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active
markets is based on quoted market prices at the balance
sheet date. The quoted market price used for financial assets
held by the Group is the published price quotations.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded
in an active market is determined by using valuation
techniques. The Group uses a variety of methods and makes
assumptions that are based on market conditions existing
at each balance sheet date. Quoted market prices, dealer
quotes for similar instruments and other techniques, such as
estimated discounted cash flows, are used to determine the
fair value.

All financial instrument’s fair values at 31st March, 2008 and
2007 are not materially different from their carrying values.
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8. Turnover and segment information 8. EEERIEEH
a) Turnover: a) =M.
The Group

(In HK$'000) (UEEFTREN) 2008 2007
Commission and brokerage BHELL 2Bk

income from securities broking L me WA 38,645 24,853
Commission and brokerage HEgR 2 Rek

income from futures broking e A 3,200 2,449
Interest income from FE WA R

- margin clients -HFREFP 14,779 15,019

- money lending -BEX@E 25,698 35,191

- financial institutions and others - TSR R E SO 6,823 5,747
Management and handling fees EREFEE 2,440 2,046
Commission for subscribing new REFRAS

shares 194 137
Corporate finance advisory fees TERERRE 250 587
Placement and underwriting Bk & B 88

commission - 5,088
Investment management fee REERSE 3,187 2,977
Rental income HE W 5,128 3,724
Sales of precious metal EREBHE 194,611 110,161

294,955 207,979
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8. Turnover and segment information (Continued) 8. EEEKROIBER(E)
b) Segment information b) 2EEH
i) Business segments ) EEIHE

For management purposes, the Group is currently AEREZE AEEREBAY

organised into seven operating divisions namely TELZER DRI ALRL - B

broking, financing, corporate finance, assets HorERE BEERE WE

management, property investment, precious metal RE BE2BEERREZER-

trading and investment holding. These divisions are the AEERBUESEMNBETE

basis on which the Group reports its primary segment DIEER -

information.

Principal activities are as follows: FTEXBET

Broking Securities brokerage and futures FES EHEELERH
brokerage g4

Financing Securities margin financing and B 7% PEFERE
money lending RER

Corporate finance Corporate finance advisory, EBRE EREER -
placing and underwriting fo & & &3

Assets management  Assets management for listed BEER BrmkIL
and unlisted companies and mAREkEE
high net worth individuals EFE(EE

FEEERE
Property investment  Property rental and dealing MERE MEMERE
]
Precious metal Precious metal trading E¢BEE E2EBEE
trading

Investment holding  Share investments REER Bin ik &
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8. Turnover and segment information (Continued) 8. EEERIBENE)
b) Segment information (Continued) b) PBER(E)
i) Business segments (Continued) i) EBESEE)
An analysis of segment information of the Group on AEERYEEBRESE =
these businesses for the years ended 31st March, 2008 EENER-_EELE=A
and 2007 is as follows: SH-BIEEZHEERS
G UNE
Corporate Assets Property Precious Investment
Broking Financing finance management investment  metal frading holding Consolidated
ag B b¥7E gEER VESE EEREE REzR B

(In HK$000) GERTTAEl) 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

Segment revenue: ~ HEIA:
Selestoexternal  HEFHK
customers ZF 44285 20348 47300 55957 444 5812 3187 2977 5,128 3724 194,611 110,161 - - 294,955 207,979

Segmentresults A B%E 23333 10278 35,806 41570 438 5738 2818 2852 2298 949  (170) 1512 = - 64523 62899

Increase in fair RENELTE

value of LA

investment

properties 92,000 162,977
Gain on acquisiton - EAHBARH

of asubsiciary  E£ & - 1631
Ganon disposal ~ HEMEAFZ

of asubsiciary & 12000 -

Ganondisposal  HENE
of property, BaREE

plant and FEE B

equipment - 94
Bad debs 18 1

written off (1,776) -

Write-ack of REERERE/
provision/ (&)

(provision) for

doubtl debts M (309)
Other revenue Etha 186 66!
Shareof resuls  EEBEREZ

of associates E+ ] 05 195

Profit before R AR

faxation 167454 225,420
Incore tax FERRR
expense (11,365) (10,847)

Prof for the year  FAEFI 156,089 214,573
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8. Turnover and segment information (Continued) 8. BEBERDBEER(E)
b) Segment information (Continued) b) 2EER(E)
i) Business segments (Continued) i) EE L E)
An analysis of segment information of the Group on HE-_ZZ ) N\FR_ZEZTLF
these businesses for the years ended 31st March, 2008 A=+ BIFEZEBE S
and 2007 is as follows: BERAMT
Corporate Assets Property Precious Investment Inter-segment
Broking Financing finance management investment metal trading holding elimination Consolidated
g i% LERE BEeER VEL E4EEE REER AERES &8
v
(In HK$ 000) BEl) 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
Rssets i
Segment assets 2ERE 143303 167445 414744 589,634 - - 400 802 514898 422606 45776 112847 9,286 140,000 (12,192) (74,563) 1,120,016 1,366,191
Interests in RBEAT
ass0ciates LER 65,208 66,791
Unallocated 45
corporate assets bzEE 1218 70%
Consolidated total ~~ GFAREE
assels 1,197437 1440077
Liabilities £
Segment liabilies 8EAE 70512 101,888 123,451 344,955 - - 12 10 12408 15757 44046 110613 - 128000 (12,192) (74563) 238,287 626,660
Interests n VN
assooiates s - -
Unallocated ToERE8E
corporate
liabilties 40917 39420
Consolidated fotal ~ FFA%ER
liabiliies 29,214 666,080
Other information ~~ E4&#
Capital expendiure ~ E25% 5889 - 3 - B0 654 1016
Depreciation it 449 55 65 80 2 % 556 631
Write-back of RRERRRE/
provision)/ (B®)
(provision) for
doubtful debts - -6 (30%7) 6 (3037)
Bad debs 5N
written off 1,776 - 1,776 -

/1
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8.

10.
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Turnover and segment information (Continued) 8. EXEHRDEEN(E)
b) Segment information (Continued) b) HEEE (#)
ii)  Geographical segments i) HERE
The Group’s operations are principally located in Hong FEFBLABEIBERREER
Kong and Macau. The Group’s administration is carried WP MEEZTHRERNES
out in Hong Kong. WAT o
The following table provides an analysis of the Group's TREHAEFELEEIME
turnover by geographical market and analysis of total TENREESERERYT HIA
assets and capital expenditure by the geographical area M E R REREMENE Y
in which the operations and assets are located. DT o
Capital
Turnover Total assets expenditure
E 2] BEE EARX
(In HK$'000) (LB FTREN) 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
Hong Kong e 289,827 204,255 617242 821,680 654 993
Macau s 5,128 3,724 580,195 618,397 - 23
294,955 207,979 1,197,437 1,440,077 654 1,016
Finance costs 9. REMAE
The Group
rEH
(In HK$'000) (BB TFTREL) 2008 2007
Interest on bank loans and overdrafts BTERRELFEAX 6,001 7,456
Interest on other loans HtERzFBERAX 3,814 2,946
9,815 10,402
Profit before taxation 10. FR%E A& F
Profit before taxation has been arrived at after charging and BRELATS A 2 B RE AT EIE -
crediting the following:
The Group
rEE
(In HK$°000) (BB FTREN) 2008 2007
Charging: 2Bk -
Auditors’ remuneration ZEE N < 369 369
Staff costs BT 19,856 17,512
Depreciation e 556 631
Bad debts written off 2 R 8 1,776 -
Operating leases rentals in respect MEMEZ KL
of rented premises HERS 1,476 1,194
Loss on disposal of property, HEME  #HEk
plant and equipment BBELEEE 40 -
Crediting: BEtA
Rental income from operating leases frEEERS AR T
less outgoings (Gross rental income: (Ao A 4% : 5,127,895/8 7T
HK$5,127,895 (2007: HK$3,724,189)) (ZEZ 5 :3,724,189%71)) 4,857 3,502




ANNUAL REPORT 2008 4 #

11.

Directors’ remuneration

a) Directors’ and senior management’s emoluments
The remuneration of every director for the year ended 31st

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M OB O® R KB

For the year ended 31st March, 2008 #& £ 2% )\4E=H =+— H L4 i

1 EFHe
a) EIREREEEHS
EEFNBE-TE\F=A=1-

March, 2008 is set out below: AILFEZHMEsFMT
Basic
salaries,
housing Discretionary
henefits, honuses
other andfor
allowances  Retirement performance- Compensation  Inducement
and benefits benefits related forloss  for joining
Fees inkind - contributions honuses of office  the Group Total
Erge
BERA: BiEwd &
HibRER B R/% 4]
(In HK8000) (LERTTREL) iz EMAE  BAMR  ENBA BREE pi Eh)
Non-executive directors: FHTES:
Mr. Wong King Keung, Peter ity 100 - - - - - 100
Mr. Wong Ching Hung, Thomas” ~ EELEE" 50 - 1 - - - 51
Executive directors: EEES
Mr. Cheng Kai Ming, Charles HRmLE - 130 § - - - 136
M. Li Kwok Cheung, George SEERE - 646 2 - - - 667
Ms. Cheng Wai Ling, Annie gR%)A - 534 12 - - - 546
M. Suen Man Tak, Stephen® BxELEY - 1,101 12 - - - 1,113
Mr. Cheng Wai Lun, Anrew® HEptan - 1,258 12 - - - 1,270
Independent non-executive BN ES:
directors:
Mr. Pang Cheung Hing, Alex PRALE 50 - - - - - 50
Mr. Chan Chung Yee, Alan' RrgxE n - - - - - 7
M. Fuk Ho Kai ERERE 30 - - - - - 30
Mr. Wong Wai Kwong, David®! BRRTAY - - - - - - -
Mr. Ng Yick Man, Andy® REH A - - - - - - -
257 3,669 64 - - - 3,990

Mr. Wong Ching Hung, Thomas was re-designated from
executive director to non-executive director on 19th October,
2007.

Mr. Suen Man Tak, Stephen was appointed as executive
director on 3rd April, 2007.

Mr. Cheng Wai Lun, Andrew was appointed as executive
director on 16th July, 2007.

Mr. Chan Chung Yee, Alan was appointed as an independent
non-executive director on 19th September, 2007.

Mr. Wong Wai Kwong, David was resigned as an independent
non-executive director on 3rd August, 2007.

Mr. Ng Yick Man, Andy was appointed and resigned as an
independent non-executive director on 16th July, 2007 and 1st
August, 2007 respectively.

O BEIEER-_ZZLETATARHHR
TEERARFRTES -

@ BXEEERN_ZTLFNAZRAEZE
HITEE -

O HEGREER-_ZTLEFLATAEZR
ERTES -

@ BREELER-_ZTLFNATNAEZ
EBUFRPTES -

6 EEALER-_ZTLEN\AZRABER
BUFBTES -

6 REFEESFIN-_ZTTLELA+KAE
2R FN\A-BEREREEASE
UFRTEE -

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED
(X H£HAFRLA)
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11. Directors’ remuneration (Continued) 1. EEME (&)
a) Directors’ and senior management’s emoluments a) EEREREEEME(E)
(Continued)
The remuneration of every director for the year ended 31st BEENEE-_ZT+F=-A=+—
March, 2007 is set out below: BEFEzBMeHIWT :
Basic
salaries,
housing Discretionary
benefits, honuses
other and/or
allowances  Retirement performance- Compensation  Inducement
and benefits benefits related forloss  for joining
Fees inkind - contributions bonuses of office  the Group Total
BAge-
EEEA: hiEka e
HbRER i) k/3 8-
(In HK8 000) (hERTTAZl) Be  EMRE  BAMR BMR4 BEEE pA-L a3t
Non-executive director FHES:
Mr. Wong King Keung, Peter BRERE 100 - - - - - 100
Executive directors: #178%:
Mr. Wong Ching Hung, Thomas EFEE 50 - 1 - - - 51
Mr. Cheng Kai Ming, Charles Ll - 130 8 - - - 136
Mr. Li Kwok Cheung, George FERLE - 582 21 - - - 603
Ms. Cheng Wai Ling, Annie 3l - 27 11 - - - 258
Independent non-executive BUhiEs:
directors:
Mr. Wong Wai Kwong, David BRtEE 50 - - - - - 50
Mr. Pang Cheung Hing, Alex PRERE 50 - - - - - 50
M Fuk Ho Kal Btk %0 - - - - - Kl
280 99 kY - - - 1,278
No directors waived or agreed to waive any remuneration FREEVEWNES RS HE LA

during the year (2007: Nil). S (ZTT+F &|E) o
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For the year ended 31st March, 2008 # £ =% % )\E=H =+ —H L4

11. Directors’ remuneration (Continued) 1. ESME (E)
b) Details of emoluments of the five highest paid individuals b) TEBEHFMAL (BREESEREM
(including directors and other employees) are: EBE)zMeFHE:
(In HK$'000) (BB ForBEN) 2008 2007
Fees e - -
Basic salaries B B 1,150 654
Housing benefits, other allowances FERF - HAhEA
and benefits in kind &i%ﬂ i 17 29
Retirement benefits contributions BREF R 36 41
Discretionary bonuses and/or BETEA &/ B BAEAL
performance-related bonuses 6,129 7,087
Compensation for loss of office BRI RS = -
Inducement for joining the Group MBAREE 2 52 - -
7,332 7,811

For the year ended 31st March, 2008, two (2007: one) of
the highest paid individuals were executive directors of the
Company, whose emoluments are included in Note 11(a).

Analysis of the emoluments of the five highest paid
individuals (including directors and other employees) by
number of individuals and emolument ranges is as follows:

R_EENF=ZA=F+—HFE "
Z(ZETLF: f%&%‘#ﬁ@w\t
AERRAIRITEE  REZHMEEH
REfFE11(a)

FMAL (BREEREM
NS B & %6 B 2 7 8051

b 4=F:
E)

ﬂ

2008 2007
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ %1,000,000% T = 3
HK$1,000,001 - HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7L £1,500,0007% 7T 3 -
HK$1,500,001 - HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T £2,000,0007% 7T 2 -
HK$2,500,001 - HK$3,000,000 2,500,001/ 72 23,000,000/ 7T - 2

12. Earnings per share 12. 8REF
The basic earnings per share is based on the Group’s profit BRERGMNDIEBRADARZREE AR

attributable to equity holders of the Company of approximately
HK$156,101,000 (2007: HK$213,603,000) and the weighted
average number of 1,283,119,415 (2007: 1,261,817,638) ordinary
shares in issue during the year.

There is no diluted earnings per share for the years ended 31st
March, 2008 and 2007 presented since the Company has no
dilutive potential ordinary shares.

HAREE % 4156,101,0008 T (Z 2 F
+ 4 : 213,603,000 L) R AFE B #HT
@M 2 N T 19 801,283,119,4150% (=
TT 41 1,261817,63800) & °

ARANELEEEENE L ERREFE
AT EZIBE-_FTEN\EFR_FTTL
FoAZt-HUEFEZEREEET -

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED
(X H£HAFRLA)
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For the year ended 31st March, 2008 #& % — 2% )\4E=H =+ — H IL4EJE

13.

Income tax expense

a)

ANNUAL REPORT 2008 4 #

13. FTEHMEX

Income tax expense in the consolidated income statement a) #HeEWEEFIAEHRAIE:
represents:
The Group
rEE

(In HK$'000) (KEBTTRER) 2008 2007
Hong Kong profits tax BEMRBEH

- current year -REE 11,365 10,847
i) Provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made at b) i) BABRFHRIDREREI7.5%

the rate of 17.5% (2007: 17.5%)

i) No provision for overseas taxation has been made as

the amount is insignificant.

Income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the c)
profit before taxation per the consolidated income statement

as follows:

(ZBTLF175%) &E -

ARBIRBZRBELTEK -
BRI I 4 1R R4 o

AEERERAX A RFaRERZ
BRBLAD G RIS BRI T

The Group
EE

(In HK$'000) (KEBTTRER) 2008 2007
Profit before taxation B 7 A A 167,454 225,420
Tax at the statutory income tax BEEMEREI75%1E

rate of 17.5% ZHHIE 29,304 39,448
Tax effect of increase in fair REWME 2 N EE M

value of investment properties W E (16,100) (28,521)
Tax effect of other non-taxable revenue TERBP 2 EMBANRBELE (3,512) (1,241)
Tax effect of other non-deductible TEHGRZEMRAINRBELE

expenses 875 623
Tax effect of unrecognised AERANEREEZEDN

temporary difference MBRE 36 (20)
Tax effect of tax losses not KRR HBBENTS

recognised A 775 712
Utilisation of tax losses previously FRATRER ZBBER

not recognised - (23)
Others Hit = (131)
Under-provision in current year REEREIR (13) -
Income tax expense TS X 11,365 10,847
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For the year ended 31st March, 2008 #& % —R&E )\4E=H =+ — H IL4ESE

13. Income tax expense (Continued)

d) At the balance sheet date, the Group had unutilised
tax losses of approximately HK$125,374,000 (2007:
HK$120,342,000) available for offsetting against future
taxable profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
due to the unpredictability of future taxable profits. The tax
losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

14. Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the

15.

Company
The profit attributable to equity holders of the Company is dealt
with in the financial statements of the Company to the extent of

13. FABHRAX (&)

14.

d REER FAEEEITHEERR
ERB RN ABDABRBEEEY
125,374,000 L (ZE T+ F :
120,342,000 70) © AR EETERIR
RERT R 2ER - Bl EmER
BEERBEE - NBEBETERDLE
&

AREREFEARGFRNGRT

RN FEz=EE AL T 439,238,000
BT (ZZET L4 40,993,0008 ) D H#E

approximately HK$39,238,000 (2007: HK$40,993,000). ARBZHBHRRPERE -
Dividends 15. BE
(In HK$'000) (LB FTREN) 2008 2007
Final dividend proposed of HK3.0 cents BRERERE - 8REEKRET
(2007: HK3.2 cents) per ordinary share SO (ZZEZEL£F - Bw3.20l) 38,865 40,782

The amount of the proposed final dividend for the year ended 31st
March, 2008 of HK3.0 cents will be payable in cash with an option
to elect scrip is not accounted for until it has been approved by
the shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

BE_ZZN\F=ZA=1+—-HLEFEZE
HAHRBETIONBEABR XM LA
EEARAE - HEARESRITZBRRE
FRE LSRRI ER  TAEE-
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16. Property, plant and equipment 16. W% - HEEREE

The Group: NEE -
Leasehold Furniture,
land and fixtures and Motor
building  equipment vehicles Total
HE HE #EB
(In HK$'000) (LB FITAEN) THRET B AE FakS
Net book value as at RHEE
1st April, 2006 RZZEX EFMA—H 840 513 609 1,962
Additions N - 453 540 993
Disposal HE - - (156) (156)
Depreciation nE (20) (371) (240) (631)
Net book value as at RREE
31st March, 2007 RZEZ+F#=A=+—H 820 595 753 2,168
At 31st March, 2007 RZETLF=A=+—H
Cost 5% 900 3,595 1,091 5,586
Accumulated depreciation ZRTE (80) (3,000) (338) (3,418)
Net book value BEFE 820 595 753 2,168
Net book value as at EEFE
1st April, 2007 RZTE+FMA—H 820 595 753 2,168
Additions 15 - 654 - 654
Disposal HE - (1) (140) (141)
Depreciation nE (20) (310) (226) (556)
Net book value as at FRFE
31st March, 2008 RZZBENF=ZA=+—H 800 938 387 2125
At 31st March, 2008 RZEZENF=A=1—H
Cost FX 7R 900 4,277 878 6,055
Accumulated depreciation ZENE (100) (3,339) (491) (3,930)
Net book value as at RREE
31st March, 2008 RZEENEF=A=+—H 800 938 387 2,125
Note: Wit -
i) The analysis of net book ) RZZEERFEMA—HZ
value as at 1st April 2006 REESTIT
was as follow:
Cost %N 900 3,142 941 4,983
Accumulated depreciation 2RENE (60) (2,629) (332) (3,021)
Net book value REFE 840 513 609 1,962

ii) The total cost of property, plant and equipment disposed of during the

year was approximately HK$185,000 (2007: HK$390,000).

iii) The leasehold land and building are situated in Macau under medium-

term lease.

i) MAFEHENR BERIEBRAD
#%185,0007% 7 (=% T+ 4 : 390,000/

TT) °

i) PHENNEELRETMIRA -
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17.

18.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
M OB O® R KB

For the year ended 31st March, 2008 #& % — 2% )\4E=H =+—H IL4E)¥

Investment properties 17. REWM*
The Group: KER:
(In HK$°000) (BB FrREN) 2008 2007
Fair value: NEE
At 1st April RIEA—H 350,000 187,000
Additions b h7N - 23
Net increase in fair value recognised in Rire lam kB ER
the consolidated income statement RNEEZEINFE 92,000 162,977
At 31st March R=B=+—H 442,000 350,000

The Group’s investment properties are situated in Macau and are

held under medium-term lease.

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at 31st March,

2008 have been arrived at on the basis of market value of a

valuation carried out at that date by LCH (Asia-Pacific) Surveyors

Limited, an independent professional valuer. Investment properties

were valued on open market basis.

The Group leases out investment properties under operating

AEBzREMEMNEFI RFE+THHE

e

AEER_ZZN\F=A=+—HREY
ENRATFEDBERBY EXMHEMAK
THEMARRARMET ZMHEENE
EERE - REMEDROFRMERE -

AEEUGLLHERLRENE -

leases.
Intangible assets 18. B EE
The Group: REE -
(In HK$'000) (BT TREN) 2008 2007
Trading rights in the Stock Exchange BRI R

and the HKFE 2R
Cost at 1st April and 31st March, RARNONA—-—BRE=A=+—H

net of accumulated amortisation SEEHEKANFE 2,040 2,040
Cost (gross carrying amount) KA (BRE21(E) 3,400 3,400
Accumulated amortisation N3 (1,360) (1,360)
Net carrying amount REFE 2,040 2,040

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED
(X H£HAFRLA)
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19. Interest in subsidiaries 19. RITBLAR 2R
The Company
NN
(In HK$'000) (UEBFTREN) 2008 2007
Unlisted shares, at cost ELEMRES KAE 10,615 10,615
Amounts due from subsidiaries FE W Bft B A R RIE 341,220 314,271
Amount due to a subsidiary T B 2 Rl 50 E (5,607) (6,108)
346,228 318,778
The amounts due from/(to) subsidiaries are unsecured, interest- EY (BR)MBARREAEER £
free and have no fixed repayment terms. EREETEERE -
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at 31st March, 2008 are as RZEZENF=ZA=+—0 KRFEFH
follows: IATHERE
Principal ~ Percentage of interest Issued and fully
Place of place of attributable to Principal paid ordinary
Name of subsidiary incorporation operation the Group activities share capital
ERTRAR
WELREE AR TEEXBH EERREDML TEEH EBRRAE
Upbest Financial Holdings British Virgin Hong Kong 100% Investment US$1
Limited Islands holding
RERUEE 0 REER E
Upbest Land Company British Virgin Hong Kong 100% Investment US$1
Limited Islands holding
RERUES B REER 1%
Citybest Management British Virgin Macau 100% Investment US$1
Limited Islands holding
EEEUHEE A REER 1%
Companhia De Macau Macau 100% Property MOP25,000
Desenvolvimento E investment
Formento Predial Si
Wan Limitada
BEEXERARDA A A NERE 25,000£F1 T
Gold-Face Finance Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong 100% Money lending HK$28,000,004
BRBBEERAF BB B EX@E 28,000,004
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19.

Interest in subsidiaries (Continued)

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at 31st March, 2008 are as

follows: (Continued)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M OB O® R KB

For the year ended 31st March, 2008 #& £ 2% )\4E=H =+— H L4 i

19. RMBLR &S (&)

RZZEZNF=ZA=+—H KREAHA

ATHBRA : (&)

Principal  Percentage of interest Issued and fully

Place of place of attributable to Principal paid ordinary

Name of subsidiary incorporation operation the Group activities share capital

ERTRAR

WEADEHE AR ETEEXBH SEERED TEEH EBRRRAE

Good Foundation Company Hong Kong Hong Kong 100% Investment HK$10,000
Limited holding

REBRDA B BE REER 10,0007 7

Good Profit Development Samoa Hong Kong 100% Investment US$1
Limited holding

HNERER A BEED BB REER %7

Great Luck Consultants Limited British Virgin Hong Kong 100% Inactive US$1

HEBRERATA Islands

AEEUES B ERTEE E

Kam Ho Investments Limited British Virgin Macau 100% Investment US$1
EEREBRAA Islands holding

RERUES RP REER 1%7T

King Standard International British Virgin Macau 100% Property holding US$1

Limited Islands

RBRUEE BF EER %7

Marco Tech Limited British Virgin Hong Kong 100% Investment us$2
Islands holding

AEEUES B RERR 2ETT

Mei Tou Real Estate Company Macau Macau 100% Property MOP25,000
Limited investment

ZEMEBRRA R’P R’P NERE 25,000/2F9 7

Mei Wo Real Estate Company Macau Macau 100% Property MOP25,000
Limited investment

EFMMEER A AP R NERE 25,0002F9 7

Pearl Star Holding Limited Samoa Macau 100% Investment US$1
holding

EE ey RERR 1%

Perfect Result Investment British Virgin Macau 100% Investment US$1
Limited Islands holding

FEREARAF RERUES R’P REER 1%7T

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED
(X H£HAFRLA)
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19. Interest in subsidiaries (Continued)

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at 31st March, 2008 are as

follows: (Continued)

ANNUAL REPORT 2008 4 #

19. RMBRE 2% (&

WTHBRA : (&)

RZZBZENF=ZA=+—H KREAXKAE

Principal ~ Percentage of interest Issued and fully
Place of place of attributable to Principal paid ordinary
Name of subsidiary incorporation operation the Group activities share capital
EBRIRER
Wi 2R AR AR TEEXEMH SESREOML TEXK EBRRRE
Phantasy Development Hong Kong Hong Kong 70% Property HK$18,000
Limited investment
IMERERAF BB BB NERE 18,0007 7T
Profit Up Development Hong Kong Hong Kong 70% Property HK$10
Limited investment
BEZERERAA 5 R NERE 1087
Solar Land Group Limited British Virgin Hong Kong 70% Investment US$10
Islands holding
AERUES R REER 10%7T
Upbest Assets Management Hong Kong Hong Kong 100% Assets HK$600,000
Limited management
FREBERARAF BB BB EEER 600,0007% 7T
Upbest Bullion Company Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong 100% Investment HK$5,500,000
holding
FREERRAF BB BB REZR 550000087
Upbest Commodities Company Hong Kong Hong Kong 100% Futures dealing HK$10,000,000
Limited
FRAEERAF BB B HEEE 10,000,000
Upbest Corporate Finance Hong Kong Hong Kong 100% Inactive HK$2
Company Limited
FROERMEBRAA R R ERTNEE 2B T
Upbest Cyber Trade Company Hong Kong Hong Kong 100% IT project HK$2
Limited management
FRETHEARDA R G BB 2B
BEER
Upbest Finance Company Limited ~ Hong Kong Hong Kong 100% Money lending HK$2
ERUMBERRA B £ EXRE 2B T
Upbest Gold Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong 75% Bullion dealing HK$10,000
FREBERRA BB B HSEE 10,0007 7T
Upbest Hong Kong Land British Virgin Hong Kong 100% Investment US$1
Company Limited Islands holding
AERUES B REER v
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19.

Interest in subsidiaries (Continued)
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at 31st March, 2008 are as

follows: (Continued)

M OB W

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31st March, 2008 # £ =% % )\E=H =+ —H L4

19. RIIBL A 2ER (&)
RZZEZNF=ZA=+—H KREAHA
ATHBRAE : (&)

Principal  Percentage of interest Issued and fully
Place of place of attributable to Principal paid ordinary
Name of subsidiary incorporation operation the Group activities share capital
EBRIRER
HEAREHE AR FTEEXEBH SESRBEOML TEEH EBREA
Upbest Investment Company Hong Kong Hong Kong 100% Securities  HK$25,000,000
Limited margin financing
FRREARAF B8 0 EHITERME 25,000,000 T
Upbest Macau Land Company British Virgin Hong Kong 100% Investment US$1
Limited Islands holding
FRRMERARAA HERAHES B REZR 1%7T
Upbest Online Securities Hong Kong Hong Kong 100% Inactive HK$5,000,000
Limited
FRMLESBRAA B Bt EHRAES 5,000,000
Upbest Securities Company Hong Kong Hong Kong 100% Securities dealing HK$10,000,000
Limited and broking
FREFARAF B BB FEHEXHREL 10,000,000 7T
Upbest Strategic Company Hong Kong Hong Kong 100% Investment HK$5,002
Limited holding
FRRBERRA BB B8 REZR 5,0027% 7T
Upbest Precious Metals (Asia) Hong Kong Hong Kong 75% Precious metals HK$500,000
Limited dealing
FRESE (M ARLA B B8 ESBER 500,000/ 7
Companhia De Fomento Macau Macau 60% Investment and MOP500,000
Predial E Investimento civil engineering
San San, Limitada
MAMEERERAA RP RP BRERTAIE 5000002 T
None of the subsidiaries had any loan capital outstanding at the AEERERSEFERN TENBA RS

end of the year or at any time during the year.

A wholly owned subsidiary, Full Benefit Investment Limited, was

disposed of to an independent third party at a consideration of
HK$12,000,000 during the year ended 31st March 2008. A gain
on disposal to the Group of approximately HK$12,000,000 was

reflected in the consolidated income statement.

BRBEZIBERMEER

R-ZEE

N—=T=

NE=ZA=T—HFER  UAF

#12,000,0008 TRELE—2EHNBER
FIMFAREERAR - AEBHFEKRELD
12,000,000/ 7Tl B R br A W R R IR o

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED
(X H£HAFRLA)
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20.

Interests in associates

20. REERNT 2R

ANNUAL REPORT 2008 4 #

(In HK$'000) (LB T BENT) 2008 2007
Unlisted investments, at cost FELEMIRE - REA 123 123
Share of post-acquisition profits less losses JE 15 W i 12 FNBR B 1B 18 i A 11,719 11,513

11,842 11,636
Amounts due from associates JIE Ui B 8 N B FUIA 53,456 55,155

65,298 66,791
The amounts due from associates are unsecured, interest-free and W ENFIREABEER 28 REE
has no fixed terms for repayment. EENE -

The Group’s interest in its principal associates, all of which are

unlisted, were as follows:

AEEREMAFLTEIRBENR 2 E
=T

Particulars Form of Percentage of
of issued business Place of effective interest
Name of associate shares held structure  incorporation  attributable to the Group  Principal activities
HECRT BER AR
Beng iR RAZEE iz i 2 SEERBEREOL IEXH
Acetrade Investments 25 ordinary  Incorporated British Virgin 25% Property investment
Limited shares of US$1 Islands
each
26 BRIET
EER tE  RBERKEE NERE
Upbest Financial 1 ordinary share  Incorporated Hong Kong 50% Provision of
Services Limited of HK$1 each financial services
ERERBBERAA 1RERIET
Z BB ¥ 5 RS RRT
Hoi Wing Construction 1 ordinary  Incorporated Macau 45% Property Investment
Development share of
Company Limited MOP126,000
BXREEXBERAA 1RERAMT
126,000 & BHK h¥ A NERE
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20.

21.

22,

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31st March, 2008 #& % — 2% )\4E=H =+—H IL4E)¥

Interests in associates (Continued) 20. NEE DRIz ()
The summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s AREBBME AR ZVBEEAREESFIMT
associates is set out below:
Group’s Group’s share
share of Profitt  of result of
Total Total net assets of (loss) for associate
assets liabilities associate Revenue the year  for the year
REBEEE rEEE
NG Engfl  hEREER
(In HK$'000) (LEETFTAERL) ERAE BREE EREE g (BB)  AAz¥E
Acetrade Investments
Limited 81,164 78,600 641 1,422 927 232
Upbest Financial FEeHRHE
Services Limited BRAF 155 205 - 3,364 1,642 -
(Note 1)
Hoi Wing Construction /X EEEE
Development BRAR
Company Limited 100,000 75,110 11,078 - (60) (27)
181,319 153,915 11,719 4,786 2,509 205
Note 1: This associate has net liabilities and the Group did not share its 71 BHEATNAZAGBRALEELREE
result for the current year. WREDFZRBNLEE -
Available-for-sale financial assets 21, AHHERKESE
The Group
rEH
(In HK$'000) (LB F o BEN) 2008 2007
Unlisted equity investments, at cost FLETERAKE - KA 136 137
As at the balance sheet date, the unlisted equity investments of NEER R SFHE 2 ITRAE
which their fair values cannot be measured reliably, are stated at BRNEBETVIERAESE -
cost.
Loan receivables 22. EBWER
The Group
rEHE
(In HK$'000) (LB F o BE) 2008 2007
Interest-bearing advances FFEER 399 1,000
Non-interest bearing advances FEETEMER - 127,999
399 128,999
Portion classified as non-current assets DERERDEERR (236) -
Portion classified as current assets DERREBEERN 163 128,999
Interest-bearing advances which is unsecured, carried interest at HEESAEERTREESERTY (—F
7% (2007: 9%) per annum. THF:9%) o

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED
(X H£HAFRLA)
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Margin client receivables of approximately HK$101,323,000 (2007:
HK$226,410,000) are repayable on demand, bearing interest at
market rate and secured by clients’ securities listed on the Stock
Exchange with a market value of approximately HK$406,876,000

as at 31st March, 2008 (2007: HK$463,931,000).

The settlement terms of cash client receivables and amounts due
from clearing houses are one or two days after the trade date.

23. Trade and other receivables, deposits and prepayments 23. ESRHMEWIE ZREREMRE
The Group REE
(In HK$'000) (KB TFTREL) 2008 2007
Amounts receivable arising from the AREBzERR

ordinary course of business of dealing HERXH

in securities and options: FEUFRIA -

~ Cash clients -Be®F 27,708 43,653

— The SEHK Options Clearing House -BRMREEARAF

Limited 2 2

- Hong Kong Securities Clearing -BBPREFEBRAA

Company Limited 5,083 28,586
Accounts receivable from tenants FE e F 2= 308 2 44
Amounts receivable arising from the BEXBKZHEEN

ordinary course of business of dealing RHEWR

in futures contracts: A

— Clearing house - BEEm 14,368 11,490
Amounts receivable arising from the AREBIREES

ordinary course of business of provision HERE

of securities margin financing: JE Y R

- Clients -EP 114,354 239,441
Amounts receivable arising from the AREBCESE

ordinary course of business dealing in BERWHIA

trading of precious metal:

- Clients -&F 5,864 9,383
Interest bearing loan receivables BB F B EWE R 308,413 342,017
Other receivables Hb R 4,249 6,573

480,043 681,189
Less: Provision for doubtful debts B RIEREE (93,510) (107,989)
386,533 573,200
Deposits and prepayments me RENFKIE 6,482 881
393,015 574,081
Portion classified as non-current assets DERERBEEDND (25,301) (51,890)
Portion classified as current assets DEARYEED 367,714 522,191

U 7 R & P BR 30 49101,323,0008 7T (=
TET L 226,410,0008 7T) AR B
BE FEEMBENEHW  RUEFZ
BT EMBEHIERAR  RZTENF=
A=+—HBME# 406,876,000 T (=
ZT 4 463,931,000 7T) ©

BUREEFPRERALBUREEMFAZE
PR BER—ZEMAE -
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23. Trade and other receivables, deposits and prepayments 23. ESZRHMEWERR ZEREMNRE
(Continued) (&)
The movements in the provision for doubtful debts/impairment RAFERIEZRERE, FHEBSES
losses during the year, including both specific and collective loss FEEBIERBEREKNS 2ZFHIT :
components, are as follows:

The Group KEE

(In HK$°000) (BB FrREN) 2008 2007
At 1st April RmA—H 107,989 108,065
Amount written off as uncollectible A W (Bl i 8 2 BUEE (14,163) (3,113)
Impairment loss (written back)/made A E 18 (B E)/1E (316) 3,037
At 31st March R=ZR=+—H 93,510 107,989

The aged analysis of trade and other receivables (net of provision
for doubtful debts) is as follows:

B5REMBYNER (ERE) 2 BRI
nT :

(In HK$'000) (LB F o BE) 2008 2007
Neither past due nor impaired REBRARE 377,390 533,556
Past due: BB
Less than 1 month past due BEBENE—EA 1,926 15,974
1 to 3 months past due BH—Z=={A 4,283 6,441
3 months to 1 year past due BHRE-EAE—F 661 5,652
Over 1 year past due BHRBRE—F 2,273 11,577
9,143 39,644
386,533 578,200

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a
large number of diversified customers for whom there was no
recent history of default or covered by securities deposited with
the Group.

Receivables that were past due relate to a number of independent
customers and were reviewed by the directors with a provision/
impairment losses of approximately HK$93,510,000 made at 31st
March, 2008 (2007: HK$107,989,000). Based on past experience,
the directors are of the opinion that no further provision for
impairment is necessary in respect of these balances as there has
not been a significant change in credit quality and the balances
are considered fully recoverable.

REHRARBE 2 BURFTE R ERL
AR AEFRIRNAEE ZEFLER
BZRETREP -

EBHZERERNZEABILIEFR
REFTERHERZSEERELRE
193,510,000 L (Z 2T £ F :
107,989,000/ 7T) » BB BT LLE - AR
AEERAE UFABERZSEERBIEL
WERE RAEHEELETESAE(
MZEERNER A+ RIKLE o

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED
(X H£HAFRLA)
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24.

.

S TO THE FINA

25.

Other assets 24, HiEE
The Group
rEE

(In HK$'000) (KEBTTRER) 2008 2007
Hong Kong Securities Clearing Company BEEPREH

Limited BRAR

- Guarantee fund deposit - REBEESHER 126 126

— Admission fee - W& R 100 100
Statutory deposit with the Stock Exchange BRFTATEES 200 200
Statutory deposit with the Securities and EFERMEEBERZES

Futures Commission ETERE 2,000 2,000
Reserve fund contribution to the B SN

Stock Exchange Options BERAF

Clearing House Limited HEe 1,300 1,300
Reserve fund contribution to the BEEBREHERAR AT

HKFE Clearing Corporation Limited HEe 1,500 2,990

5,226 6,716
Properties held for development 25. HIFBRRWE
The Group
rEE

(In HK$'000) (LB F o BE ) 2008 2007
Properties held for development, FIERBMEURAHE

at cost 80,787 83,307
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26.

27.

28.

Inventories

-—-\.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2008 #& % —R&E )\4E=H =+ — H IL4ESE

26.

7

The Group
rEE
(In HK$'000) (UEBFTBEN) 2008 2007
Precious metal, stated at cost EeBUAKATE 6,424 13,747

No inventories were stated at net realisable value as at 31st

March, 2008 and 2007.

Amounts due from related companies

There are no amounts due from related companies as at 31st

March, 2008.

Amounts due from related companies at 31st March, 2007

represent margin client receivables which are repayable on

demand, bearing interest at market rate and secured by client’s

securities listed on the Stock Exchange with a market value of
approximately HK$79,175,000 as at 31st March, 2007.

27.

N2 ER-2FLE=A=+-A
TR BT 2R F AT -

B BEE 1 R FIR
R_EENF-A=+-RAUERNEE

A RFIE °

BRBERAFEER_ZZTLF=H
St—HERARERPZHE  BARBN
KEE BMSHNEFE  RUKP 2
R EMBHEEF RZTZLF=A
=+—BZME#XART9,1750008 7T °

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 28. AT ERNKRZRIERZHBEE
The Group
A EME
(In HK$°000) (UEEFTREN) 2008 2007
Derivative financial instruments at PTERBITARATE
fair value 18,598 68,172

Derivative financial assets represent financial instruments for
trading of precious metal with two financial institutions. These are

categorized as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

unless they are designated as hedges.

TEMBEERNME MBRBETES
BEEMHE TR -BRIFTEMBEEE
R BA-RERARRXTFENK
BRINRZATEEE
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29. Bank balances and cash 29. RITEHBRES

The Company The Group
/NG| rEE
(In HK$'000) (W BT TAEN) 2008 2007 2008 2007
Cash at bank RITEEER
- General accounts -—&FO 52 148 61,396 49,638
— Trust accounts S i - - 27,896 7,001
- Segregated accounts -HREERA = - 6,738 5,679
Cash in hand Ae - - 6 11
Short-term bank deposits KHERITIF R
- pledged (Note) — IR (i 72) - - 70,566 70,054
~ non-pledged — JEHE 4 - - 14,580 7,800
52 148 181,182 140,183
Note:  The amount represents fixed deposits pledged to a bank to secure Wit BRRERERTRIZEHFR E
general banking facilities granted to the Group. AREEER —RRTREZERR -
Included in bank balances and cash in the consolidated balance REEERABRACRITHEBIASEE
sheet are the following amounts denominated in a currency other UAREBEEEB A 2 BB 2 TS
than the functional currency of the Group to which they relate: EE
2008 2007
United States Dollars e 502,980 204,724

Patacas SBPITT 170,842 84,109
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30. Borrowings 30. A

The Group
rEE
(In HK$'000) (U BB FTHBELR) 2008 2007
Borrowings comprise: ERBIRE
Bank overdrafts RITEX 51,902 130,951
Bank loan BITER 11,000 100,501
Other loans HiE X
_ interest bearing -ite 18,810 133,869
— interest free - %8 - 128,000
81,712 493,321
Analysed as: PRk
Secured BHEMA 81,712 330,201
Unsecured i - 163,120
81,712 493,321
Borrowings are repayable as follows: RTIFHERZEE
Within one year or on demand —FRRIRBA 81,712 476,746
More than one year but not exceeding —FLA B EBME
two years - 16,575
More than two years but not exceeding MENLLBTBBRF
five years — -
81,712 493,321
Less: Amount repayable within one year W —ERERLIHERE
and shown under current liabilities afEzAE 81,712 476,746

Amount due after one year —F&E BFoE - 16,575
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30. Borrowings (Continued)

31.

The ranges of effective interest rates (which are also equal to
contracted interest rates) on the Group’s borrowings are as
follows:

ANNUAL REPORT 2008 4 #

B (&)
AEEERZERFE (TESERELOF
R)ZEHBEMT

2008 2007

mi}
J4 T2

rl]]}AH

J

Effective interest rate:

E
Variable-rate borrowings BT

The bank overdrafts are secured by fixed deposits with banks.
The fair value of the Group’s borrowings is not materially different
from the corresponding carrying amounts at the balance sheet
date. The interest free loan at 31st March, 2007 of approximately
of HK$128,000,000 has a maturity date on 13th September, 2007
which had been fully repaid.

Included in borrowings are the following amount denominated in a
currency other than the functional currency of the Group to which

1.00% - 6.20% 1.00% - 6.40%

fEﬁiﬁSEﬁafE"ZEHW%ME%ﬁ
B AEEEFzATFEEEBEDE
TEEAZER RZZTLF=ZA=+—
B % B {8 7 #128,000,0008 L& N = &
T+ENA+T-BERICE2HEE -

B DA R I B M LA S 2 A
2 FHIHE

they relate:
2008 2007
United States Dollars I 2,411,525 18,869,606
Amounts due to related parties 3. ENBEEALFRE
The Company The Group
AN AEE
(In HK$°000) (BB TFrREN) 2008 2007 2008 2007
Amounts due to related parties: e BE i A L FUE ¢
- Related companies - BT - - 60,591 57,941
- A director -E=F 7 7 14,234 23,580
- A subsidiary’s director -HWBRARIES - - 538 538
7 7 75,363 82,059
Amounts due to related parties are unsecured, interest-free and EREEATZRBAERE AN

have no fixed terms of repayment.

%U /%\ &/AEL %H fa = e
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32. Creditors and accrued expenses

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
M OB O® R KB

32. ENRARENER

For the year ended 31st March, 2008 # £ %% )E=H =+ —H L4

The Company The Group
PN rEE

(In HK$'000) (LEBTFTRER) 2008 2007 2008 2007
Amounts payable arising from AEEBIES

the ordinary course of K HtE

business of dealing in RHER

securities and options: IR

- Cash clients -BE&EP - - 41,618 37,846
Amounts payable arising from BREKZ

the ordinary course of HilE &4

business of dealing in RSER

futures contracts: A

- Clients -EP - - 19,958 17,163
Amounts payable arising from AE X% IRE

the ordinary course of BHHAEME

business of provision of JE

securities margin financing: B

~ Clients -EP - - 11,221 6,536
Amounts payable arising from AEEB 2 REHE

the ordinary course of HeEBEEN

business of dealing in bullion HIRE - - 19,565 10,805
Escrow money received REE® - - 14,189 7,653
Accruals and other payables JE A B A I H At e 5RIB 603 627 8,348 6,688
Rental and other deposits HEREMENIZS

received - - 3,776 1,027
Rental receipts in advance i Giikn - - 127 39

603 627 118,802 87,757

No ageing analysis is disclosed for escrow money received as
it represents deposits paid by third parties to the Group for the
purpose of potential investments in certain projects and the

balance at 31st March, 2008 is non-interest bearing.

The settlement term of cash client payables is two days after the
trade date. Other payables are repayable on demand. The age of

these balances is within 30 days.

REBSZRRYERE  BRLEHRT
FoERTAKRBERELEBRENEE
ARERRBER-_TTNF=A=1+—H

ZRBREAINNE -

ReRPRNFTEARRZH

H At A AIE/E&L%JE}? °

BRA=THR-

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED
(X H£HAFRLA)

93



OTES TO THE FINA
M O®HR R K E

For the year ended 31st March, 2008 £ _ %% )4E=H=+—H

33. Share capital 33. BRA

Number of shares Share capital
RHOHA [N
2008 2007 2008 2007
’000 '000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TR T FTER FHET
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each ~ SR EE0.01E L2
AR
Authorised: ETE
At the beginning and the FUNRFERY
end of the year 3,000,000 3,000,000 30,000 30,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITRAR
At the beginning of the year FHE 1,274,423 1,253,122 12,744 12,531
Issue of shares BTG 21,078 21,301 211 213
At the end of the year FREY 1,295,501 1,274,423 12,955 12,744
During the year, 21,077,953 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each FRRRRAGR1.3728 T 81T
in the Company were issued at HK$1.372 per share as scrip 21,077,953 B R EE0.01E T2 & @
dividends. A premium arising therefrom of approximately BIEBUABRRE RUHEEZEEN S

HK$28,708,000 was credited to the share premium account. 28,708,000/ ;L E R0 )% B AR ©
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35.
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34. Reserves e
Share  Contributed Retained

premium surplus profits Total
(In HK$1000) (LB TFLAEN) BREE BHR% RBEA Ht
The Group rEE
Balance as at 1st April, 2006 R-EERFWMA— 230,304 8,515 261,684 500,503
Issue of shares BT 28,459 - - 28,459
Profit for the year AE T - - 213,603 213,603
Proposed final dividend BIREREBRE - - (40,782) (40,782)
Balance as at 31st March, 2007 RZZEZ+F=A=+—H# 258,763 8,515 434,505 701,783
Issue of shares BT 28,708 - - 28,708
Profit for the year REF - - 156,101 156,101
Proposed final dividend BURERHRE - - (38,865) (38,865)
Balance as at 31st March, 2008 RZZBENF=-A=1+—H&EH 287 471 8,515 551,741 847,727
The Company ARA]
Balance as at 1st April, 2006 RZEZFHA—B&# 226,979 8,515 607 236,101
Issue of shares BT 28,459 - - 28,459
Profit for the year AEE T - - 40,993 40,993
Proposed final dividend BREREBRE - - (40,782) (40,782)
Balance as at 31st March, 2007 RZZEZLF=A=T—B#&#H 255,438 8,515 818 264,771
Issue of shares BT 28,708 - - 28,708
Profit for the year REF - 39,238 39,238
Proposed final dividend BURERHRE - - (38,865) (38,865)
Balance as at 31st March, 2008 RZBEENF=ZA=1+—HEH 284,146 8,515 1,191 293,852
Operating lease arrangements 35. KEHEZH
The Group as lessee EFEAEBEA

The Group leases certain properties under operating lease
arrangements. Leases for properties are negotiated for terms for

one to three (2007: one) years.

At 31st March, 2008,

the Group had future minimum lease

AEERBLLHELHERETYE -
BELMEREFRR—E=F(ZFF
TtF:—F) -

RZZFZENF=ZA=1—0 *&ERE

payments in respect of land and buildings under non-cancellable TARE T NEFTEEHE T 2 A KSR
operating leases as follows: BEMES2TT :
The Group
A%

(In HK$'000) (BB TTRERL) 2008 2007
Within one year —FR 764 430
In the second to fifth years, inclusive RE—FZERAFZA 375 -

1,139 430

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED
(X H£HAFRLA)
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35. Operating lease arrangements (Continued) 35.

36.

The Group as lessor

The Group leases certain properties under operating lease
arrangements. Leases for properties are negotiated for terms
ranging from one to twenty (2007: one to twenty) years.

At 31st March, 2008, the Group has total future minimum lease

ANNUAL REPORT 2008 4 $i

REeHERH(E)

SEBHAA

AEEREELBELHHEETYE -
BELMEREFRN T —E-+F (=

TRLE: %

ZFF) -

RZZEZENF=ZA=+—0 rEERE

rental receivables under non-cancellable operating leases as T HBGREHE T ZARZKEKES
follows: N
The Group
rEE
(In HK$°000) (LEEFTREN) 2008 2007
Within one year —FR 4,808 4,757
In the second to fifth years, inclusive REZFEZFRAFIA 9,663 10,767
More than five years AR F 19,518 21,558
33,989 37,082

Connected and related party transactions 36. BERBHEALRS
During the year, the Group had the following material transactions RAFEE  AEEDHEEREATETIN
with its related parties: TZERRS
Name of related party Nature of transactions Notes
BEALER REMNE
(In HK$'000) (LOBBTF T BEN) i 2008 2007
UBA Investments Limited (“UBA”) Investment management fee (a) 2,300 1,878
HAREERLA (HAKRE]) REAEHRE

Securities brokerage commission (b) 1,798 996

fee

rieRe

Margin financing interest (c) 704 826

FRAEME

Bullion dealing interest (d) 265 41

ERERENL

Commodities brokerage (e) 3 -

commission fee

HEfe

Bullion commission (f) 2 -

E2EM
Town Bright Industries Limited Rental expenses (9) 736 736
FIEBXARAA MeRx
Upbest Properties Company Limited ~ Rental expenses (h) 84 84
ERMERRRAA MeRx
Champion Assets Limited Rental expenses () 120 120
HEARDA Hex
Loong Cheong Limited Rental expenses 0) 29 -
EEBRAT Hex
Mr. Suen Man Tak, Stephen Disposal of motor vehicle (k) 100 -
BEit HERE
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36. Connected and related party transactions (Continued)

(a)

A subsidiary of the Company, Upbest Assets Management
Limited (“UAML") as investment manager, and UBA
Investments Limited (“UBA”) have on 6th November, 2000,
first entered into an investment management agreement
pursuant to which UAML provided investment management
services to UBA for a term of three years up to 30th
November, 2003. Upon the expiration of the second
investment management agreement for a period of three
years commencing from 1st April, 2003, the same parties
again on 31st March, 2006 entered into a supplemental
investment agreement for the sole purpose of further
extending the term of the second investment management
agreement for another 3 years to 31st March, 2009. This
agreement can be terminated by either UAML or UBA
serving not less than six months’ notice in writing prior to
the expiration. Pursuant to the investment management
agreement, monthly investment management fee is receivable
at 1.5% per annum of the consolidated net asset value of
UBA as at the immediately preceding valuation date on the
actual number of days in the relevant calendar month over
365 days a year. The annual cap for the financial year ended
31st March, 2008 is HK$2,300,000.

In addition to the above, UAML and UBA have on 2nd May,
2008 entered into a supplemental agreement whereby (i)
the term will be extended to 31st March, 2010; and (ii) in
addition to the management fee, a performance fee payable
in Hong Kong dollars equivalent to 20% of net profit of UBA
before taxation and before deduction of the management fee
payable under the investment management agreements shall
be paid to UAML for each financial year.

The annual cap for the management fee and performance
fee for the financial year ended 31st March, 2009 and 2010
are HK$20,400,000 and HK$24,480,000 respectively. These
continuous connected transactions were approved on the
extraordinary general meeting of the shareholders held on
10th June, 2008.

36. BEE
(a)

REBMALRS ()
RZZEZZF+—-ARE  ARAEIZ
MERARIEZRERERAR(ERER)
kAMAKEERLR(AAKRE)ER
ERE-OREEE G BEBRE
MEZERMARRERHEREER
REARB=FEBE_TT=F1+—
A=+HB -RE_NMKREEBHES
/%FIUU_ EEI%REE/\—Y = /\¢ A
Tt HAEZGHKREEERERC
ZE-FNA-BRF=FE®RA
é&&ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁvﬁm%kﬁ
E_NRBERBHEZ=FEZE
%Hizﬁ:+—ﬁﬁﬁoﬁﬁ%m
AARERERSHAREES IR
NEANEABNER - BREREE
B XREERURAAREME
HEEERRBAIZHERE  HH
AREESE NENEZFAARESHE
MERZEEFEISNIEFER
FHABERERBHBIUAZE3650 2
ERPMBEERE -N_TTNF
ZA=+—RZUBFE2FERA
2,300,000 /& 7T °

Brbatoh  EREBNMARARENZ
ZZN\FRAAZBIAL—HHERR
#FER)EEHASEREHNEC
Z-FFE=A=1—H: R(i)5@EH
BEE XREEAZERERBA
BAERMBEEREERBETINE
BERZBNH20% REME

“ETRNF=A=+-RUBFER
“E-TF-A=+—RUBFEZ
ERERKRAMEZ2F LRAAA
20,400,0007% JT 24,480,000/ JT °
FRHEHERFIERNEZNEFAR
ATBBRREHAEEB

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED
(X H£HAFRLA)
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36. Connected and related party transactions (Continued)

(a)

(Continued)

Special Bonus

UAML and UBA have on 2nd May, 2008 entered into another
supplemental agreement pursuant to which a special
bonus will be paid to UAML by UBA. The special bonus is
20% of UBA’'s audited net profit before taxation and before
deduction of management fee for the financial year ended
31st March, 2008 or HK$17,000,000, whichever is lower. The
special bonus is payable only after the audited account of
UBA is issued by its auditors. This connected transaction
was approved on the extraordinary general meeting of the
shareholders held on 10th June, 2008.

Upbest Securities Company Limited (*“USCL”) and UBA
and two of its subsidiaries have separately entered into a
supplemental agreement for the transaction in relation to
the securities brokerage service dated 1st November, 2007.
USCL and each of the subsidiaries of UBA Investments
Limited agreed to extend the service period from 1st
November, 2007 to 31st March, 2010. Brokerage commission
fee income is charged at 0.25% (2007: 0.25%), the prevailing
market rate, on the value of the transactions. Annual
cap for the financial year ended 31st March, 2008 was
HK$2,000,000.

On 2nd May, 2008, UBA and two of its subsidiaries had
separately entered into a supplemental agreement with
Upbest Investment Company Limited (“UICL") in relation
to the provision of securities margin financing service.
According to the supplemental agreements, the respective
relevant original agreement will be extended to 31st March,
2010 and is subject to renewal by written supplemental
agreements between the contracting parties. The securities
margin financing services interest rate is charged at 4.25%
above prime rate per annum inclusive of custodian fee; and
(i) the provision of IPO financing at an interest rate from 0.2%
to 1.25% per annum above the borrowing costs of UICL. For
the financial year ended 31st March, 2008, interest income
for securities margin account was charged at a range from
11.5% to 12.25% (2007: 12.25% to 12.5%) per annum.

ANNUAL REPORT 2008 4 #

36. BERBEBMALIRS (H)

(a)

(#&)

&S
EREBRABRBREE_STN\EH
RAZ BN S —#R ik  mEEH
ZRPRERINEIRE TEREE
B BN ERERARE-_SZ
NE=ZA=+—HVBREEREZ
REAARFLNKREEER ZEND
20% 3% 17,000,000/ 7T * B K&
BE - FRIRE RN ZEM A
RELEBEZRERAAIIN - &R
BHERSIEN-_ZEZTN\FAATH
BREFRIAG@MB -

R AEREMENE AR HIHEE
BEFBRAR (EEESH) pLiRd
EREERBET T —HERHE -
FEFHFNABREREMENEA
A RIREEREFHLLRH A

ZEE+LF+—-A-HEZZT -
EFZA=T-H -HEBAsWEBARE
FEFNEE2S% (ZTTF:
025%) GEREEMNMBER M
ZETNFE2F LR %2,000,000%
e

i

<

—EE)N\FHRAZH FHEEER
MEMBEARDREEEREGR
A(EERE)RBLARAER
SEI TRAGE REBEELHRH
Z ANETORIREBRERET
HE-_T-TF=A=+—AKLT
BEFANEERABREN - BH
HFEREFEXAREENEML
4.25% (BHEREE) KRB RAH
BRBMEBEZEZRE ZEERAM
FO2%ZE125%F 8L -HBEZTT
NEZR=+—HALZHBREE 7
EBREZEXEB115% £ 1225 %
(ZEZT+5F :12.25% & 12.5%) o

N

S
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36. Connected and related party transactions (Continued)

(d)

On 2nd May, 2008, Upbest Gold Limited (*UGL") entered into
a supplemental agreement with UBA Gold Investment Limited
(“UBA Gold”) in relation to the provision of precious metal
margin financing service by UGL to UBA Gold. According
to the supplemental agreement, UGL and UBA Gold agreed
that the relevant original agreement will be extended to
31st March, 2010 and is subject to renewal by written
supplemental agreement between the contracting parties.
The supplemental agreement also provided that the interest
rate for the precious metal margin financing service will be
1.05% per annum above the borrowing costs of UGL. For
the financial year ended 31st March, 2008, bullion dealing
interest was charged at 6.5% to 7.0% (2007: 6.5%) per
annum.

On further clarification on the Listing Rules with professional
advisers, the Group understood the provision of securities
and bullion margin financing to UBA constitute financial
assistance under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The annual cap regarding the securities and bullion margin
financial assistance for the financial year ended 31st March,
2009 and 2010 is HK$150,000,000. These continuous
connected transactions were approved on the extraordinary
general meeting of the shareholders held on 10th June, 2008.

Commodities brokerage commission is charged at a range
from HK$20 to HK$100 per transaction.

Commission is charged at HK$500 per transaction.

A subsidiary of the Company has entered into a tenancy
agreement with Town Bright Industries Limited for one year,
commencing from 1st August, 2006. The tenancy agreement
was renewed for one year, commencing from 1st August
2007. The transactions were carried out at an amount agreed
by both parties. Mr. Cheng Kai Ming, Charles, a director
of the Company, has beneficial interests in Town Bright
Industries Limited.

A subsidiary of the Company has entered into a tenancy
agreement with Upbest Properties Company Limited for
three years, commencing from 1st May, 2004. The tenancy
agreement was renewed for three years commencing from
1st May, 2007. The transactions were carried out at an
amount agreed by both parties. Mr. Cheng Kai Ming, Charles,
a director of the Company, has beneficial interest in Upbest
Properties Company Limited.

36. BERBBAL

(d)

R (&)
RZZEZNFRA-H E2
BRAF (£#2) BUBA Gold
Investment Limited (UBA Gold)#t B
XE4HUBA GoldiRtELBHE
mﬂéﬁﬁ&i‘%mﬁﬁﬁbﬁ o MBI

" EE 4L RUBA GoldRIEERAE
HELHE-_T—FF=-/A=+—H
BRIETRERTNEmBERG S
MeomMEBENIBECBTRERE
ZERRBERESBEKAINMLET.05%
FRE - BEZZTN\F=-A=1+—
Btz BEE EcBHARRBE
ZBEE6L%ET 0% (ZTT L
6.5%) °

Nﬁliﬁi%%@ﬁ?ﬁ&i‘ﬁﬂ%@w N

BERRESTRBERESE
H%ﬂéﬁ&%ﬁ%imﬁﬂﬁﬂ AT OA
BRHBEER -

HREBERESBHFREBE_ZSZN
E&_¥*g¢:ﬂ:+ EZEJTE&
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*ﬁfﬁﬁi FﬁL %E}F—? 7)\¢/\
AT+ ABRRFI R HE -

HEREERR
JT ©

5 82075 7L £100/8

ME/BRRH5008 T °

ARAMBRAAERNEEXZARD
ARV MEERZE =TT AFNA
—RERH -5 HERICEE -
FH-_TTLF/\A-BE-FH
RGUNFTHETBEZSRET A
NRIBEEBHALENABEEEXAR
ARBAEEDES -

ARAIMBEAREXEBERRDA
AIVHERE BT TNFRA—
A RE=F HERACEELE=
F H-_ZTLERA-BE-BH
RPUNTHENBE L BET - K
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ARHRAED D -
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36. Connected and related party transactions (Continued)

(i)

(n)

Two subsidiaries of the Company have entered into tenancy
agreements with Champion Assets Limited for one vyear,
commencing from 1st January, 2007 and 1st March, 2007
respectively. The tenancy agreement was renewed for one
year, commencing from 1st January, 2008 and 1st March,
2008. Mr. Cheng Kai Ming, Charles, a director of the
Company, has beneficial interest in Champion Assets Limited.

A subsidiary of the Company has entered into a tenancy
agreement with Loong Cheong Limited for three years,
commencing from 26th January, 2008. The transactions were
carried out at an amount agreed by both parties. Mr. Cheng
Kai Ming, Charles, a director of the Company, has beneficial
interests in Loong Cheong Limited.

A subsidiary of the Company disposed of a motor vehicle to
a director, Mr. Suen Man Tak, Stephen at a consideration of
HK$100,000 resulting in a loss on disposal of property, plant
and equipment amounting to HK$40,300.

CCAA Group Limited, an investment holding company,
holds approximately 71.82% interest in the Company. Fung
Fai Growth Limited, an investment holding company, holds
approximately 32.08% of UBA Investments Limited. The
ultimate beneficial owner of Fung Fai Growth Limited and
CCAA Group Limited is Cheng’s Family Trust.

Details of the balances with subsidiaries, associates, related
companies, directors and subsidiaries’ directors are fully
disclosed in notes 19, 20, 27 and 31.

The remuneration of directors and other members of key
management during the year are disclosed in note 11.

The above transactions were carried out in the normal course of

the Company’s business on terms mutually agreed between the
parties.

36.
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37. Acquisition of a subsidiary 37. BAMBAF
On 27th March, 2007, the Group acquired 70% of the issued share RZEEL+F=ZF=_++H KEB
capital of Phantasy Development Limited for a consideration of 4243238 T2 REBRBEINBERBR A
HK$424,323. This acquisition has been accounted for using the BIBMR AR ZT0%E 31T IR A o 1t U B8 LA
purchase method. BEERR -
The net assets acquired and the gain arising from the acquisition HHESEBA L FEERMES 2 ET
are as follows: LN

Acquiree’s carrying amount

BB A R BREE
(In HK$°000) (BB TFTREN) 2008 2007
Net assets acquired: BAZFEE:
Property under development BERME - 12,000
Utility deposit INGES S5 - 16
Bank balances RITEE R - 615
Amount due to holding company SRR A A - (10,576)
Net assets BESE - 2,055
Total consideration, satisfied by cash NIRRTz BRE - 424
Excess of net fair value over consideration FeElaRE®ER
recognised in the consolidated income NEFERARE
statement ) - 1,631
Net cash inflow on acquisition: WHERZBSRAFH
Bank balances and cash acquired BARTEHER - 615
Cash consideration paid BENEERE - (424)
- 191
The aggregate revenue and the profit for the whole year of the HREMBARREF 2 Wakin 2%
acquired subsidiary as though the acquisition was effected at the W ENRBEEERBE_STLEF
beginning of the year ended 31st March, 2007 are as follows: A=+ BLEEENRKEEN :
For the year ended For the year ended
31st March, 2008 31st March, 2007
HE-ZZN\E BE-TTLHF
(In HK$'000) (LB T T REN) ZA=+—-HLEE ZA=+—HLFE
Total revenue Wz 78 - 8,004
Profit for the year F A% 7 - 8,004

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED
(X H£HAFRLA)
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38.

39.

40.

Disposal of a subsidiary

ANNUAL REPORT 2008 4 #

38. HEKEBAR

(In HK$'000) (LB T BENT) 2008 2007
Share of net assets/liabilities disposed of EHLEEE BREBTE
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HEMEARPTES 25T 12,000 -
Proceeds on disposal H & Z S SR 12,000 -
Satisfied by: FRFE:

Cash Be 12,000 -
Analysis of the net inflow of cash and HEMBAR RS

cash equivalents in respect of the kR 2EBMZR

disposal of a subsidiary: AT

Cash consideration received BWHReRE 12,000 -
Contingent liabilities 39. HAEE
(In HK$'000) (UEMFTREN) 2008 2007
Guarantees given to financial BEWB QA

institutions in respect of facilities BT eRHE

granted to subsidiaries ERLAREGEE 335,750 368,100

The Company has not recognised any deferred income in respect
of these guarantees as its fair value cannot be reliably measured

ARADRAREREREMETRARR
FEENGERZRHEERELE (=

and its transaction price was HK$ Nil (2007: HK$ Nil). ETLF BT -
Capital commitment 40. EXREE
(In HK$'000) (KEBTTRER) 2008 2007
Amount contracted but not provided for BRITAHMAEEHEE
- acquisition of land and building by /NG I EEING N g
a subsidiary of the Company T RETF 49,005 -

A deposit of approximately HK$5.4 million has been paid as at
31st March, 2008 in respect of the above acquisition and the
amount has been included in trade and other receivables, deposits

and prepayments in note 23.

RZZEZNF=ZA=+—0  LatlEE
X2 & 495,400,0008 T RZ € HRE B
REM 238 5 L EMBYIE - RER

BRHER -
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Outstanding litigation/subsequent events
The Group recorded the following material litigation and subsegent

events:

a)

The Group acquired a subsidiary doing money-lending
business on 29th September, 2005. The liquidator of the
former parent company of this money-lending subsidiary
had filed a claim for alleged maluse of trust monies of this
money-lending subsidiary before acquisition by the Group.
Negotiation is being sought to settle this dispute out of
court. In the opinion of the directors, the settlement sum
would not be significant in terms of Group results and assets
and therefore no provision has been made in the financial
statements for the year ended 31st March, 2008.

A writ has been served to a subsidiary of the Group for
alleged negligence in the placement of clients’ financial
instruments in prior years. In the opinion of the directors
based on legal opinion, these proceedings at the date of
the approval of these financial statements have no merit. No
provision has therefore been made in the financial statements
for the year ended 31st March, 2008.

The Group acquired 55% equity interest in a property
investment company in Macau at a consideration of
HK$44,000,000.

A special bonus of approximately HK$4,139,000 was
approved but not yet paid by UBA Investments Limited to
the Group during the Extraordinary General Meeting of the
shareholders of UBA Investments Limited on 10th June, 2008.

41.

RFEMFD HEBE
AEBERETIEAFBREKEE

AEER-_ZTRFNAA-TAAR
B-BBARRMBAR - ZMBL
AR A RE R A RN E QR 3R
BRSRTEEREERAFOAEE
RERE - REETBREINE -
EEZRRZARSEIEHER X
BREEBKEATE AUR-F
ZNF=A=T—BZHBRETIE
HA

EE-MBLRIRE - BERRARNF
ER—SPETEKENBIARE
2oBFERBELIEERZIEARR
LITBRARBRIBERREY
Z2-ARN-_FTENF=ZA=+—H
ZHBRR LS -

7K £ B LA X f844,000,00078 7T 4 B —
RFIYEIRE R AI55%E R ©

RZEZENFSATHHBREBR
NARRFRASHEBERBRE
B IR AR A & B 494,139,000
TTZRERIES  ZREEAREZA -

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED
(X H£HAFRLA)
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HEDULE OF PROPER
7/

(1) INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AS AT 31ST MARCH, 2008

-

-

(1) RZEENE=ZA=+-HBzREVN%E

Approximate

Percentage of the

Description Use gross floor area Status Group’s interest
AEBE
LEZ=31 R# BARHARE R BEADL
(square feet)
(FAR) %
Macau Commercial 105,000 Rental 100
i Bl H

51 Various car parking spaces and
the whole of the ground floor and
1st Floor of Chino Plaza, located

in Baia Sul Do Bairro Fai Chi Kei,
Lote PS2 Macau

R RPIEF EEEPS2i R 2
EMES  BESVEEL
wTrk—1%82E

PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT AS AT 31ST

(2) RZZEBENF=ZA=T-HZHERE

MARCH, 2008 LYES
Stage of
Percentage development
of the Estimated as at
Approximate Group’s completion 31st March,
Description Use site area interest date 2008
r&E R-EENE
BRER FritfEs st =ZR=+-H
MEM A& BEE Rl T A ZBRBE&
(square feet)
(FAR) %
Macau Residential/ 5,371 60 N/A Vacant land
AP Commercial Sk EELM
=/ 7
1 piece of land at
Avenida Do Almirante
Lacerda, Sto. Antonio Macau
IR BPIRLLH R E
AERZ BT
Macau Residential/ 7,198 100 N/A A two-storey
P Commercial TEA restaurant is
*FE/HA erected thereon
1 piece of land at BE-EME
Nossa Senhora Do Camo, SREEEZ
Taipa, Macau BEN
MRBRMATERER
ez —ELH
Hong Kong Residential 38,200 70 N/A Vacant land
% FE TEMA FELH

1 piece of land at
Tai Po Declaimation
District Number 29
RABEKI29E
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